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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good afternoon.

          3  I'm Councilman Perkins, Chairman of the Governmental

          4  Operations Committee, and today, this afternoon

          5  we're going to have a hearing with regard to Intro.

          6  No. 171, submitted by Council Member Moskowitz and

          7  Council Member Baez. It's a local law amending the

          8  New York City Charter and Administrative Code of the

          9  City of New York in relation to strengthening and

         10  clarifying the Campaign Finance Act.

         11                 I want to welcome everyone for being

         12  here. Today is one in which there are quite a few

         13  activities going on that include members of this

         14  Committee, and, so, they will be coming in and out

         15  throughout the hearing, but we want to get this

         16  hearing started.

         17                 I want to acknowledge the presence of

         18  our Counsel, Jeanette Ford, and I want to also

         19  inform those who are here to testify that if you're

         20  interested in signing up to testify, and you have

         21  not already, see the Sergeant-At-Arms. But see the

         22  Sergeant-At-Arms, and that way you'll be able to

         23  sign up to testify.

         24                 Let me just say at the outset that

         25  this is a very important hearing, and it's a very
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          2  important piece of legislation.

          3                 This is a City, a Council that takes

          4  pride in the vanguard role that we play nationally

          5  with regard to Campaign Finance. It has been a model

          6  for other jurisdictions, a model even for state and

          7  national consideration, as our country wrestles with

          8  the generally accepted overwhelming corrupting

          9  influence of money in the electoral process that has

         10  undermined our notion of democracy, undermined our

         11  notion of one person one vote and fair

         12  participation.

         13                 So, we are looking to take this jewel

         14  and make it better, and we are in that respect

         15  reviewing the experience that we've had in the City,

         16  and looking for positive criticism in terms of how

         17  we can continue on that path of making sure that the

         18  will of the people and not the buck is what

         19  determines the outcome of our elections locally and

         20  ultimately nationally.

         21                 I have an opening statement that I

         22  want to share with you.

         23                 Welcome, everyone. Today is our first

         24  hearing on the Introductory Bill No. 171, a proposed

         25  law to strengthen and clarify the Campaign Finance
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          2  Act.

          3                 The City Council established a

          4  campaign finance program more than a decade ago, the

          5  primary objective was to increase participation in

          6  the City's electoral process, regardless of access

          7  to wealth.

          8                 Today the Campaign Finance Program

          9  has proven to be remarkably successful in achieving

         10  this goal. Many of us sitting in our Council seat

         11  today can, in fact, testify to the program's

         12  successes. The Committee is looking forward to

         13  maintaining these successes and making some

         14  improvements, specifically Intro. No. 171 focuses on

         15  injecting more fairness, uniformity and

         16  predictability into the program by precisely setting

         17  forth due process procedures that the Board must

         18  follow-up with when addressing human violations

         19  allegedly committed by participating candidates and

         20  the penalties that should be imposed for varying

         21  degrees of infractions.

         22                 The bill also aims to clarify areas

         23  of the law that have been heretofore murky, and have

         24  lead well-intentioned candidates to inadvertently

         25  run afoul of the program. Campaign finance rules and
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          2  laws should not inordinately penalize candidates for

          3  making honest and sometimes understandable mistakes.

          4                 On the other hand, the rules and laws

          5  should be maximized so to enable easy detection of

          6  those who misuse or attempt to misuse public funds.

          7                 The Committee expects that today's

          8  hearing will prove to be a significant step towards

          9  this balance in the City's Campaign Finance Laws.

         10                 Before we start with the testimony,

         11  let me introduce you to the author of the

         12  legislation, who would share with you a few words,

         13  Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         15  Chairman Perkins, and I apologize for my tardiness,

         16  I was running from another meeting.

         17                 So, thank you very much for holding a

         18  hearing on this bill. As you already mentioned, I

         19  have enormous respect for the Campaign Finance

         20  Program. In New York City it is a model for the

         21  nation. I wish every City had the program that we

         22  have here. I've been a beneficiary of this system

         23  since in my first two elections I ran against

         24  individuals who did not participate in the program.

         25                 Having said that, though, it is our
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          2  obligation as legislators to review agencies and

          3  their practices, and both from personal experience

          4  in this program, as well as many conversations with

          5  my colleagues in the hallways. As you can imagine,

          6  this is one of the agencies that Council Members

          7  know intimately, having participated in the program.

          8  So, from those conversations and my own experience,

          9  it seemed to me that there were a whole host of ways

         10  in which the current regulations are unpredictable

         11  and sometimes inconsistent, and this law was

         12  designed to enhance predictability, and to address

         13  some of the ways in which the current campaign

         14  finance program is not user-friendly.

         15                 There have been great strides I think

         16  made in that direction, in terms of the candidates

         17  services unit, but I still think the Board has a

         18  long way to go in having that kind of customer

         19  service set of systems, because we are not all

         20  trying to get around laws, we are often viewing our

         21  sincere best to comply with rather difficult and

         22  burdensome regulations. So, the intent of this law

         23  is to in no way eviscerate or limit the scrutiny the

         24  Campaign Finance Board needs to have to keep us all

         25  honest. But it is an attempt to make the law more
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          2  predictable and more user-friendly. Thank you very

          3  much, Chairman Perkins.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          5  much for your remarks and the extraordinary amount

          6  of work that you've done that is, in essence, a

          7  tribute to the Campaign Finance Program. We'd like

          8  to see it as a work in progress and you have surely

          9  taken us in a very progressive way down the road

         10  towards making this a better program.

         11                 Today, as I pointed out, the

         12  Committee is conducting its first hearing on this

         13  bill relating to the City's Campaign Finance Laws,

         14  and we expect to hear testimony from those who have

         15  had direct experience with and ample knowledge of

         16  the Campaign Finance Program, including the Campaign

         17  Finance Board, who will be the first panel that we

         18  hear from, we have election attorneys and good

         19  government groups, such as NYPIRG.

         20                 In addition, as you've heard from

         21  Councilwoman Moskowitz, and you will hear from other

         22  members, the Committee had individually participated

         23  in the program and we have each had our own

         24  experiences with the program, and, of course, those

         25  experiences to some extent will be shared in the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  course of the testimony.

          3                 We want to look at the Campaign

          4  Finance Program as a quasi-judiciary review process,

          5  which unlike other city agencies which answer to the

          6  Mayor, the Campaign Finance Board acts as an

          7  independent and nonpartisan manner so that it is

          8  able to carry out its functions with integrity and

          9  without undue influence by local political

         10  structures, and, therefore, provide some sort of due

         11  process.

         12                 We will be looking at the program in

         13  terms of its penalties, its advisory opinions and

         14  rule-making, it's computer software compliance, its

         15  audits, and we will do some substantive

         16  clarifications, in terms of joint campaign

         17  activities and endorsements, and then we will also

         18  be looking at petition expenditures. Once this bill

         19  is passed it will be effective immediately, however,

         20  again, I want to emphasize that we will not be

         21  voting on the bill today, we will be having an

         22  additional hearing where we will hope to receive

         23  additional testimony and at that point take into

         24  consideration the possibility of voting.

         25                 We've been joined by two additional
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          2  members of the Committee, Councilwoman Madeline

          3  Provenzano, who is from the Bronx, and also chairs

          4  our Housing and Buildings Committee; Councilwoman

          5  Chris Quinn, who also chairs our Health Committee.

          6                 We will now begin with our first

          7  panel, which is a panel of the Campaign Finance

          8  Board. Please come to the desk, to the witness desk,

          9  to share your testimony. As is the procedure, our

         10  counsel will swear you in, and you will identify

         11  yourselves, your position, and then you will begin

         12  your testimony.

         13                 MS. FORD: Please raise your right

         14  hand to be sworn in.

         15                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         16  the testimony you're about to give is the whole

         17  truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MS. GORDON: Yes.

         19                 MS. CAMPOLO: Yes.

         20                 MS. DODELL: Yes.

         21                 MS. FORD: For the record, would you

         22  each state your name, position and affiliation.

         23                 MS. GORDON: Nicole Gordon, I'm the

         24  Executive Director of the New York City Campaign

         25  Finance Board.
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          2                 MS. CAMPOLO: Carole Campolo, Deputy

          3  Executive Director of New York City Campaign Finance

          4  Board.

          5                 MS. DODELL: Sue Ellen Dodell, General

          6  Counsel of the New York City Campaign Finance Board.

          7                 MS. FORD: Thank you. Please proceed.

          8                 MS. GORDON: Thank you. As you know,

          9  this past election season was by far the most

         10  challenging in the history of our local campaign

         11  finance reform with a generous new matching rate of

         12  four to one and term limits. We saw the largest

         13  number of candidates ever vying for every level of

         14  office, including competitive races in almost every

         15  Council district.

         16                 After having successfully

         17  administered the act for what we thought would be a

         18  September 11th primary, the attack on the World

         19  Trade Center understandably interrupted the

         20  campaigns and presented even greater challenges for

         21  the candidates and the Campaign Finance Board staff.

         22                 Overall, the program must be

         23  recognized as having succeeded in many of its

         24  purposes for the 2001 elections, including the

         25  disbursement of $41 million to almost 200
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          2  candidates, and notwithstanding the confusion in the

          3  elections generated by the delayed primary, the

          4  implementation of all debates called for by the law,

          5  including multiple debates for runoff elections as

          6  well as timely publication of multiple additions of

          7  the biggest voter guide ever to millions of New York

          8  City voters.

          9                 As you also know, the Board is

         10  engaged now in its own review of the program as

         11  mandated by law, and will report to the Council and

         12  to the Mayor its conclusions about the effectiveness

         13  of all aspects of the law in the first week of

         14  September.

         15                 Against this backdrop, I would

         16  caution that all contemplated changes should be

         17  tested against the following questions:

         18                 Do the proposed changes call for a

         19  change in the law, as opposed to possible changes in

         20  rules or administrative action, as an appropriate

         21  solution. Second, do the proposed further the

         22  purposes of the law without undue negative effects,

         23  such as undue costs to the public, whether through

         24  substantial additional expenditures of public funds

         25  or inadequate protections against fraud, and do they
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          2  address the problems of significance to a meaningful

          3  number of candidates.

          4                 These questions are appropriate,

          5  because even given imperfections and understandable

          6  frustrations of candidates, it must be remembered

          7  that we have experienced extraordinary success and

          8  every change brings with it inevitable side effects

          9  that might not be currently contemplated.

         10                 Before commenting on the specifics of

         11  the proposals before you, I would like to

         12  acknowledge that Council Member Moskowitz, the

         13  sponsor of this bill, has engaged us in an extremely

         14  useful discussion of the proposals, which I hope was

         15  the first in a series of discussions that might

         16  result in better communications between the Board

         17  and the candidate community and ultimately in

         18  constructive improvements to the program.

         19                 Looking at the specifics of Intro.

         20  No. 171, I would raise the following concerns -- and

         21  Chairman Perkins, I will not read every word of this

         22  document, so I will try as best I can to summarize.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I hear a silent

         24  approval from my colleagues.

         25                 MS. GORDON: Over the 14-year history
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          2  of the program, having dealt with hundreds of

          3  participating campaigns, our record reveals only

          4  isolated instances in which campaigns have had

          5  anything other than minor issues about winding down

          6  costs, most campaigns spend very little, even

          7  nothing, indeed since funds left over at the end of

          8  the campaign by law are to be paid back to the

          9  public, this is as it should be.

         10                 The additional mailings that are

         11  proposed to thank supporters do go beyond costs as

         12  specified in the act now that are by the law

         13  specific terms supposed to be costs to compete in

         14  the election, not post election costs or costs that

         15  might be interpreted as promoting some future

         16  campaign.

         17                 Further, to add a new post-election

         18  spending cap of an additional 15 percent will

         19  substantially drive up the cost of campaigns and

         20  drive up the cost to the public of the program

         21  because any funds spent on winding down do come from

         22  funds otherwise returned to the City.

         23                 For a mayoral campaign, the 15

         24  percent cap could be an additional $1.6 million per

         25  campaign and potential spending and cost to the
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          2  public.

          3                 Not incidently, additional separate

          4  spending limits, as we learned in 1989, when we had

          5  a separate limit for fund raising, which has since

          6  been repealed, adds to the complexity of the program

          7  for the candidates.

          8                 What emerges from informal discussion

          9  about this section, however, is the possibility that

         10  some candidates have been confused about what

         11  constitutes winding down, and I believe the Board

         12  would be prepared to revisit the Board's rules with

         13  this in mind to see what clarification or expansion

         14  might be called for.

         15                 Petition costs are now exempt but

         16  must be documented. Again, hardly any campaigns had

         17  specific issues with documenting petition costs but

         18  I think it's important to note that a lot of

         19  campaigns have issues in general with exempt

         20  expenditures and the documentation for exempt

         21  expenditures.

         22                 Again, another spending limit which

         23  adds to complexity, as I read the law, a spending

         24  limit that appears to prevent the Board from

         25  auditing petition costs at all up to a certain
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          2  amount of money per election, that would be the

          3  first time in the history of the act that the Board

          4  would be prohibited from examining an entire

          5  category of expense.

          6                 The opportunity to use the limit in

          7  an appropriate or even illegal ways is obvious.

          8  Again, if it is clarity, or lack of clarity, that is

          9  the genesis of the proposal, perhaps the Board's

         10  rules could effectively address candidate confusion

         11  by adding definitions or clarifications.

         12                 On the general subject of exempt

         13  expenditures, the Board is studying this problem as

         14  part of its preparation for the September report,

         15  and I hope we'll have solutions to many problems.

         16                 In 2001, on the subject of advisory

         17  opinions, we had only 20 requests, contrast over

         18  1989 when we had 54, and that seems very

         19  extraordinary when you consider how many candidates

         20  there were in the program.

         21                 The vast majority of questions are

         22  handled promptly by telephones between campaigns and

         23  the Candidate Services Unit. We're not aware of any

         24  other agency that has any set timetable for advisory

         25  opinions, as called for by this proposal, and I
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          2  would just, without going through the whole list of

          3  items point out, not all advisory opinions, requests

          4  are true advisory opinion requests, some are

          5  requests for information or for a response that is

          6  really already clear in the law, and they are not

          7  handled through the opinion process whatsoever.

          8                 The timetables, in light of a Board

          9  calendar that meets once a month, and more often to

         10  be sure in the campaign season, with that backdrop,

         11  it's questionable whether the time periods spelled

         12  out here could reasonably be satisfied.

         13                 I would point out that the vast

         14  majority of requests are handled within the period

         15  that I believe is contemplated here, but there are

         16  reasons why there are delays, and sometimes that is

         17  because more information is needed, sometimes

         18  because the Board wants the staff to do more work or

         19  different work, sometimes because the Board is

         20  studying a problem and sometimes because an issue is

         21  sufficiently complex that should be perhaps dealt

         22  with through rule-making, rather than through

         23  advisory opinion, and it is also, to be remembered,

         24  I hope, that very often the Board and the staff are

         25  working to try to accommodate candidates, and it is
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          2  easier to say no, it takes a longer time sometimes

          3  to look into a new approach and see whether it can

          4  be accommodated without undermining the law.

          5                 And in that context I should

          6  underscore that the most time-consuming requests

          7  normally would be those that pursue a new and

          8  sometimes complex avenue for campaign activities.

          9                 We do keep in touch with the

         10  campaign, in the meantime we give guidance, it may

         11  not always be what the candidates are looking for,

         12  and I want to acknowledge that there obviously had

         13  been frustration when a candidate has a question

         14  that hasn't been quickly answered, but I'm not sure

         15  that prescribing a time period is the way to do

         16  this.

         17                 I would point out that especially

         18  during the election period the provision could

         19  distort the Board's workload and priorities away

         20  from payments to candidates to following up on

         21  abstruse legal arguments.

         22                 We aspire on the audit front to do

         23  what the law contemplates, which is to have all

         24  draft audits out within the year. This year the

         25  attack on the World Trade Center put us out of
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          2  business for that purpose for almost two months,

          3  then of course having to deal with the backlog I

          4  think conservatively puts us at a four-month lag

          5  behind the place where we would have hoped to be

          6  here at this time, but even so, we are getting the

          7  audits out at a faster pace than in the past, and we

          8  have help from outside auditors.

          9                 Again, there are reasons why there

         10  are delays. Some of those reasons can be addressed.

         11  The proposal here, however, we believe, might well

         12  undermine protections of the public fund because for

         13  some reason or other, whether due to candidates

         14  delays or administrative demands, a draft audit is

         15  delayed.

         16                 Having said that, we do recognize

         17  that the audit process is tedious. We are working

         18  hard to protect the fund on the one hand, and to

         19  work go forward as painlessly as possible with the

         20  candidates on trying to improve and speed up the

         21  process.

         22                 There's a lengthy section on

         23  procedures that would shift, as I read it, would

         24  shift the burden away from the candidates to show

         25  that they are in compliance in order to receive
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          2  public funds to the Board to show that the candidate

          3  is in violation.

          4                 As I read the proposal, and given the

          5  four-day turn-around contemplated in the law between

          6  filing dates and payment dates, the proposal would

          7  have resulted in millions of dollars of payments to

          8  candidates who had illegal contributions, invalid

          9  matching claims, had not met the threshold or were

         10  suspected of fraud in this past year.

         11                 To give one example, we estimate that

         12  some $10 million would have been paid out alone on

         13  invalid matching claims, and that's only one of the

         14  categories that I just enumerated, and it's very

         15  unlikely that those funds could have been recovered.

         16                 This would be an extraordinary

         17  reversal in a largely successful 14-year history of

         18  balancing the need to disperse funds quickly against

         19  the need to protect the public fund.

         20                 If I have misread the procedure and

         21  it does permit a process within the four days, it

         22  would nonetheless appear to prevent the Board from

         23  working out some potential violations while payment

         24  is suspended.

         25                 This year we alerted candidates even
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          2  within the four-day turn-around to violations that

          3  were easily correctable, thus enabling the Board to

          4  make payment quickly to those candidates who made

          5  use of the procedure.

          6                 Under the proposal, however,

          7  campaigns that might have been able to work out

          8  apparent compliance problems quickly while payment

          9  is suspended would instead have to be found in

         10  violation for payment to be withheld even

         11  temporarily.

         12                 Many apparent violations are obvious,

         13  such as late filings, or the acceptance of corporate

         14  contributions, and are more appropriately initiated

         15  by a notice from the Board staff, rather than a

         16  complaint signed by members of the Board, as

         17  suggested in these proposals. The requirement that

         18  candidates respond to an alleged violation even at

         19  the most initial stages in the form of a verified

         20  answer is also unnecessary for candidates.

         21                 In addition, a requirement that an

         22  enforcement proceeding would be dismissed if the

         23  Board takes no action within 30 days would tie the

         24  hands of the Board in performing an investigation,

         25  and in considering whether a violation has taken
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          2  place. Indeed, it would reward those who are most

          3  artful at committing fraud, you know the comments I

          4  made on advisory opinions are also applicable.

          5                 And, finally, on the appeal

          6  procedure, it would call for a much more formal

          7  hearing than the ones we currently conduct. I think

          8  the candidates benefit from a relatively informal

          9  setting that is provided and does not require having

         10  an attorney and permits the participant to submit

         11  documentary and testimonial evidence without

         12  requirement of taking oaths and being subject to

         13  cross-examination, which I think might create an

         14  unnecessarily formal and less conciliatory

         15  atmosphere for Board hearings.

         16                 It does seem to me, again, that

         17  through continued counsel, with the Council and its

         18  staff, we might be able to learn what precise

         19  procedural steps have caused concern, and we could

         20  perhaps address them administratively.

         21                 On the penalties, on the specifics of

         22  the particular ones being suggested, they do not

         23  permit aggravating or mitigating circumstances to

         24  come into play. It should be noted that under the

         25  current Board practice no campaign has ever assessed
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          2  penalty if the campaign as voluntarily returned an

          3  illegal contribution before the Board has alerted

          4  the candidate.

          5                 The Board does want to encourage

          6  self-policing, and we believe that the current

          7  policy does that.

          8                 The proposed formula for maximum

          9  penalties, based on the candidate's expenditure

         10  limit would have yielded at most a $1,370 penalty

         11  for 2001 City Council candidate, even for a serious

         12  violation, such as fraud, and this could amount to a

         13  mere cost of doing business, given the four to one

         14  formula in particular for a sophisticated campaign.

         15                 The formula would also establish a

         16  maximum penalty for Borough President candidates

         17  that is higher than the maximum penalty for

         18  Comptroller or Public Advocate.

         19                 I think that the uncertainty that

         20  candidates face when they have violations may be the

         21  genesis for this section, and that is truly a

         22  problem and it must be addressed.

         23                 The Board, therefore, does agree that

         24  a schedule of penalties for certain common

         25  violations should be made public, and had on its own
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          2  been trying to address that problem, and tomorrow at

          3  the Board meeting, that is the regularly scheduled

          4  Board meeting tomorrow, it just so happens that a

          5  rule requiring the Board to publish penalties for

          6  certain violations is on the agenda. So, again, I

          7  think this is an area where with the added

          8  information we can get, and talking with the Council

          9  members and their staffs, we can work together to

         10  improve the way the program has worked for

         11  candidates.

         12                 On joint candidate activities and

         13  endorsements, under current law and rules candidates

         14  who run on a ticket or who are involved in joint

         15  activities must reasonably allocate costs between

         16  them. The proposal appears to permit candidates to

         17  agree on an allocation that does not need to be

         18  reasonable, and that is not disclosed. This would

         19  enable candidates with significant resources to bank

         20  roll others without consequence to contribution

         21  limits, expenditure limits or disclosure.

         22                 The endorsement provision alone could

         23  render the entire program a nullity. As written, it

         24  seems to permit a well-financed candidate to air

         25  millions of dollars worth of television commercials
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          2  for program participants who endorse that candidate

          3  without any consequence to contribution limits,

          4  expenditure limits or disclosure for the

          5  participants.

          6                 I believe that, again, uncertainty

          7  and the burdensomeness of recordkeeping may be

          8  underlying problems here that do need to be

          9  addressed, and the Board, along with many, many

         10  other subjects, will, of course, want to study and

         11  address these legitimate concerns.

         12                 Thank you for inviting me to testify.

         13  I am hopeful, as I said earlier, that the

         14  conversation we've begun to have will be a

         15  productive process for us to identify the key

         16  concerns of the Council and to see how best they can

         17  be dealt with, and I am pleased to answer questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         19  much for your testimony. This is a process that is

         20  thick in terms of this legislation, in terms of the

         21  Campaign Finance Legislation, and it's a difficult

         22  process because of that.

         23                 I want to, however, make sure that

         24  it's clear that one thrust of these hearings and

         25  this bill is the concern from participants that
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          2  we've heard about how the program could be improved.

          3  And I believe it was substantially enough,

          4  individuals and the substance of their concerns,

          5  that is driving us to see how with you we can make

          6  this better for those who will be candidates of the

          7  future.

          8                 Incidently, quite a few of the

          9  concerns came from members of the Council,

         10  especially the class of -- the new class. I'm a

         11  senior member of the Council, as well as a veteran

         12  of this program, having been in the first, when the

         13  program first came out I got enrolled in the

         14  program. So, I've seen some improvement, but I also

         15  know that I've heard growing concerns from

         16  participants from a variety of angles about the

         17  program, all of which was tempered, most of which

         18  was tempered with the appreciation for the program,

         19  but sort of great deal of frustration. So, I think

         20  that we have a great opportunity here to make some

         21  giant steps towards addressing those concerns.

         22                 From that perspective, I'm kind of

         23  wondering, what are the most common complaints that

         24  you've been getting from candidates?

         25                 MS. GORDON: I think they probably
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          2  have to do with the audits and the penalty process.

          3  Those would be the two things that leap to my mind

          4  as the most common items, and I think that that is

          5  reflected in the proposal here today. And those are

          6  areas that we're very painfully aware of, and

          7  working very hard to address. I think just answering

          8  off the top of my head, those are the two that leap

          9  to my mind.

         10                 Because I think what has happened,

         11  and this is why the Board had been going along a

         12  similar track on the penalties, is that there has

         13  been a -- I think when candidates hear from the

         14  Board, since there wasn't some kind of public

         15  schedule out there, candidates just, you know,

         16  suddenly they get a letter and they see a number and

         17  there is no context to put it in, and I think that

         18  was a mistake, to leave things that way. There were

         19  lots of policy discussions, I mean I don't want to

         20  take up your time with it, but since I think

         21  everybody is pretty much on the same page on the

         22  subject matter, I think confusion and a lack of

         23  certainty, I think those are underlying all the

         24  issues that are brought forward, and the more we can

         25  do to get people to understand what the process is
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          2  and to give them an understanding, which is our job

          3  to do, of what the process is, the more effectively

          4  we can operate.

          5                 So, I think that on the penalty

          6  front, if we could give people an alert ahead of

          7  time what the numbers look like, what the mitigating

          8  and aggravating circumstances are that are taken

          9  into consideration, and how those numbers are

         10  calculated, I think that's the kind of thing that

         11  will be very helpful.

         12                 I think the problems are that, I

         13  mean, you can't do it for everything. You know, we

         14  have certain kinds of things like late filings,

         15  illegal contributions, that come up all the time and

         16  we could deal with it that way, but there are other

         17  things.  This year, for the first time, a candidate

         18  did not show up for a debate, and that was a new

         19  territory. We can't assume that we know ahead of

         20  time all of the different categories.

         21                 But I'm saying, I think for the items

         22  that come up all the time, that candidates come

         23  before us all the time, I think that can certainly

         24  be addressed and should be addressed and the Board

         25  plans to address.
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          2                 So, that's my initial response.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We'll be

          4  dialoging some more. Let me just take a moment to

          5  acknowledge the presence of other members of the

          6  Council and the Committee that are here with us

          7  today.

          8                 Council Member Michael Nelson;

          9  Council Member Joseph Addabbo; Council Member Phil

         10  Reed; and Majority Whip Leroy Comrie.

         11                 I have some other questions and

         12  concerns I want to raise, but I'd like to yield to

         13  Council Member Eva Moskowitz, the sponsor of the

         14  legislation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         16  very much, Chairman Perkins.

         17                 I just wanted to start off with a

         18  couple of comments. And I appreciate the amount of

         19  time you spent thinking about this bill, but I do

         20  think there's a certain amount of spin here, and I

         21  feel a need to just clarify, just for my colleagues.

         22                 When you say in terms of the winding

         23  down that there's a new post election spending cap,

         24  that's actually not correct. What the law is

         25  suggesting is that if your spending is under 15
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          2  percent of your pre-election expenditures, then if

          3  those expenditures fell into the category of winding

          4  down, there would be no need to, you know, prove

          5  anything more. But it's not a new spending cap. It

          6  is simply saying that if it falls into the category

          7  of winding down expenses, which are defined, you

          8  know, not in enormous detail, but in some level of

          9  detail, that if you fell in -- the whole idea here,

         10  both on petitioning and on the winding down is

         11  instead of making the candidate guess, you have a

         12  threshold, which if your expenditures fall into the

         13  stated category, you wouldn't have to ask

         14  permission. And to me this is a very effective

         15  regulatory technique. It says, you know, if you want

         16  to regulate Election Day party expenses, for

         17  example, and your party is under $2,000, then we're

         18  not going to go back and forth on it, assuming it is

         19  an Election Day party that you're expending.

         20                 If your petitioning expenses are

         21  under X number of dollars, you know, and it's

         22  petitioning, we're not going to go back and forth

         23  and have haggling over things. It's a different way

         24  of regulating. I think it would be more convenient

         25  to the candidate to not have to go back and forth.
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          2  And as you know, my experience has been that since I

          3  ask permission, and I have to wait months and

          4  months, petitioning came and went, and no one told

          5  me whether my methodology was going to be valid or

          6  not, and that's enormously frustrated, and that's

          7  been an expense. So, I just think you're misreading.

          8                 I just want to comment on a couple of

          9  other things. You mentioned that you don't think any

         10  other agency has had a time limit for advisory

         11  opinions. Well, that may be a good point, but no

         12  other agency regulates an event that happens on one

         13  single day, and it's a very important event for

         14  those of us who sit on this side of the table, so

         15  time frame is appropriate. You want people to ask

         16  for advisory opinions. You don't want them to just

         17  go and do what they think they should do. It seems

         18  to me you want to encourage on your end that if I

         19  ask for an advisory opinion, and, you know, there's

         20  a fork in the road and I have to decide whether I'm

         21  going to go right or left, and Election Day is a

         22  finite date, it doesn't change for us, I think it's

         23  fair. And your evidence even suggests, since you're

         24  only getting 20 of them, that it shouldn't be so

         25  complicated to get it back.
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          2                 Now, if 30 days is not adequate,

          3  maybe it should be 32 days, and, you know, I'd be

          4  interested in hearing.

          5                 I also just felt your analysis of the

          6  due process was not what we were talking about. This

          7  was an attempt to have a process outlined so that

          8  candidates would have a clear ability to go back and

          9  forth, if they felt that the accusation was

         10  inaccurate.

         11                 So, I just wanted to make those

         12  comments, and I'm happy to have you respond to them.

         13  I do have one specific question that I wanted to ask

         14  you about.

         15                 I presume, and I presume that you're

         16  not in the business of determining the outcomes of

         17  elections, you're in the business of regulating.

         18  Now, there were a number of candidates who had the

         19  experience that they did not get their public

         20  matching funds, because of a technical violation.

         21                 And they were given anywhere between,

         22  I don't know what anyone else has experienced, I

         23  think I personally got the funds ten days late

         24  because I didn't include a patch. It was one of

         25  those computer updates, and I got the patch and I
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          2  got it in one office and my campaign folks were in

          3  another office, and I had booked --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: It doesn't work

          5  when you get it anyway.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: It doesn't

          7  work when you get it. Yes, that's another problem,

          8  the bugs in the program.

          9                 But I was told that it was going to

         10  be at least ten days, and this was right before the

         11  election. Would you agree that if you do not give a

         12  candidate the money in a timely fashion that you

         13  could affect the outcome of the election?

         14                 MS. GORDON: I think it is possible

         15  that that could happen, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, it

         17  seems to me you want to make distinctions between

         18  when something is a technical violation, or you want

         19  to determine what the nature of the violation and

         20  have the turn-around period be quick so that you

         21  don't determine the outcome in election; would that

         22  be a fair statement?

         23                 MS. GORDON: And that's what we strive

         24  to do.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Right. So,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  does that mean that you agree with the provision,

          3  you didn't comment in your testimony, on page nine

          4  it says if a non-contested violation is cured in a

          5  reasonable amount of time, as proscribed by the

          6  Board, so I'm not limiting your prescription, any

          7  public matching funds that were withheld as a result

          8  of the violation shall be released to the

          9  participating candidate within two days, unless the

         10  participating candidate is no longer entitled to

         11  such funds as a result of the violation. Is that

         12  something you agree with?

         13                 MS. GORDON: I had not prepared a

         14  response in particular to this thing. I do think the

         15  money should go out as quickly as possible. I wanted

         16  to study before saying anything at all about the

         17  business of the two days, and so on. You know, what

         18  does it mean to cure a violation? Sometimes the

         19  Board has to assess whether a cure is adequate. It

         20  doesn't often happen, but it does.

         21                 What our practice has been in this

         22  election, and we started this new this time out, we

         23  used to use interim payments between Board meetings

         24  on a very limited basis, and we've tried to expand

         25  it to accommodate exactly the kind of situation
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          2  you're talking about, and we are able, I think in

          3  most instances, and I have to look at the record, I

          4  don't have that information in front of me right

          5  now, to pay candidates extremely promptly once

          6  they've cured.

          7                 I'm not saying it was perfect, I just

          8  say that we even went so far as to have a procedure

          9  where the Board approved payment, because that has

         10  to be done at a Board meeting, approved payment for

         11  candidates who had minor violations that were easily

         12  corrected on the condition that that be corrected,

         13  so that gave the candidate assurance that the money

         14  was coming, which in many cases is just as important

         15  as actually having --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: It's a very

         17  serious issue, if you are making a decision that is

         18  going to affect the outcome of the election.

         19                 MS. GORDON: I'm not trying to

         20  trivialize it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: But it

         22  happened, and it could have been, and of course we

         23  take this very personally, could have been that I'm

         24  not sitting here because I couldn't do my television

         25  bi, and the reason I couldn't do my television bi is
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          2  because a patch. You did an update of your computer

          3  software and I didn't incorporate, and, you know,

          4  look, I should be incorporating. I was told that I

          5  would get the funds ten days later, well that's too

          6  late for the media bi. So, what you're doing in a

          7  way, you're encouraging wealthy candidates. If I can

          8  get a loan for $10,000, in this case it was $50,000,

          9  you know, it's very serious, and to tell me that you

         10  try and get the money on time, I think it needs to

         11  be proscribed. I think it needs to be legislated.

         12  And I want to leave the flexibility up to you. I

         13  don't want us determining what's technical and

         14  what's not, I want you to determine it, but I do

         15  want to put the moral burden on you, that you are

         16  affecting the outcome of the election, and,

         17  obviously, that would be a very unfortunate thing.

         18                 MS. GORDON: I want to just say before

         19  I respond, you know, you mentioned a number of

         20  things, I'd like to respond to them, I want to say I

         21  think in the big picture we're all on the same page

         22  here. I think we all want to get the money out as

         23  quickly as possible to the candidates who are

         24  entitled to get it, and we want the program to work

         25  in a way that's going to get that money to people
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          2  but that is also going to safeguard the public fund

          3  and all the rest of those things.

          4                 It puts big burdens on the campaigns

          5  to comply. I know that it puts big burdens on the

          6  Board to be responsive, and we're all trying to get

          7  to the same place.

          8                 So, I don't want to sound as though I

          9  am against a provision of this kind. I said that I

         10  had not addressed it. As you know, I tried to

         11  prepare a thorough response to a lot of items in a

         12  short time. And we will look at everything clearly

         13  and as we work together, I thought we had a very

         14  productive meeting, I hope we can come to a lot of

         15  agreement about a lot of things.

         16                 On your first point about the winding

         17  down, I just want to say very clearly, there was no

         18  intent to spin. I read that as being an expenditure

         19  limit. You're telling me it's different from that,

         20  and that was, if it was a misreading, or maybe the

         21  drafting also needs work, so be it. Now I'm

         22  understanding that you're just saying that, so you

         23  wouldn't add extra money to the expenditure limit,

         24  or you wouldn't make it exempt, I mean whatever it

         25  turns out to be, there's not an intent to put an
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          2  extra spending limit in there.

          3                 I still do believe that the other

          4  concerns are worth considering.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: May I interject

          6  for a second?

          7                 MS. GORDON: I'm sorry.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Just for the

          9  sake of clarification, because, you know, we've sort

         10  of found some points of agreement here, particularly

         11  around the spending limit issue.

         12                 MS. GORDON: I haven't re-read the

         13  provisions in light of what Council Member Moskowitz

         14  is saying. I'm just explaining that as I read them

         15  earlier, I understood them to be a spending limit.

         16  To what extent that would --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's not what

         18  she had in mind.

         19                 MS. GORDON: I understand that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Not in mind, the

         21  idea of increasing the cap to 15 percent. Instead,

         22  she had in mind the idea of not having to get

         23  approval to spend money for those purposes.

         24                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If they were
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          2  within a certain percentage of --

          3                 MS. GORDON: The reason I interpreted

          4  that as a spending limit is that post-election

          5  expenditures are not really subject to a limit. They

          6  are outside -- the winding down cost is kind of like

          7  a little extra thing that campaigns get that doesn't

          8  count against their limit. It's not part of your

          9  campaign to get elected so it doesn't count against

         10  the amount of money that you spend in the election.

         11  So, that's how I understood that.

         12                 I'm not sure I fully understand how

         13  it would fit into that regime yet, but I'm sure we

         14  could talk about it and figure that part out.

         15                 The thing is that's why, that's one

         16  of the reasons why it's understood that that would

         17  be a very limited kind of expenditure, and, so,

         18  that's where I think we have a divergence of

         19  understanding about how it could work within the

         20  current scheme.

         21                 I just wanted to see if I could

         22  remember the other points, as well, unless you

         23  wanted to continue on this topic.

         24                 On the deadlines, on the event that

         25  happens on one day, I understand the urgency and I'm
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          2  not in any way trying to downplay that. I'm simply

          3  saying that there are circumstances where I don't

          4  believe this is workable. I think there are good

          5  reasons why it's not workable, and I do want to say

          6  that in other agencies, whether or not they have an

          7  Election Day, I am sure that to the people who work

          8  under those regimes, they may have deadlines and

          9  urgencies that are just as urgent to them as

         10  candidates have in elections.

         11                 So, I don't think it's entirely

         12  inappropriate to make that comparison.

         13                 I'm not sure I'm remembering entirely

         14  the point on the process, the word I wrote was

         15  process. I'm not in any way disagreeing with the

         16  notion that there should be clear procedures, or

         17  that people should know what to expect. I think you

         18  largely have that. What I think we don't have as

         19  well is an expectation of what the result of that

         20  process might be, for example, what that penalty

         21  might look like at the end of the day.

         22                 And I don't believe, as I say, that

         23  shifting the burden, as I understand this set of

         24  procedures does, is a way that will protect the

         25  public, because ranging from innocent error to fraud
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          2  and forgery, we alas see a lot of activity, campaign

          3  activity that should not be funded and should not

          4  entitle the candidate to be funded, and I hope that

          5  all of these things as we talk about them are

          6  understood in a context where 200 candidates got $41

          7  million and we had competitive campaigns, largely as

          8  a result of the presence of this program.

          9                 I think it's important to deal with

         10  all these things, and I know that for every

         11  candidate they are very, very important and we want

         12  to address them. But I think we also have to

         13  remember that we're looking at an overall success

         14  story where competitive campaigns did occur, and I'm

         15  not saying there weren't mistakes, I'm not saying

         16  there weren't frustrations, but I hope they can be

         17  understood in that context.

         18                 And I think maybe you had another

         19  item, oh, about the technical violation. I think

         20  that your situation is one of concern to me,

         21  clearly, and it was to you, and I will look into it

         22  specifically to understand what happened here. And I

         23  regret it if it was something that was wrong.

         24                 I do have to say, and I do understand

         25  it does place big burdens on campaigns, but please
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          2  also remember that campaigns are getting a lot of

          3  money in a very short period of time, and that also

          4  puts a burden on the campaigns to do everything very

          5  correctly, so that when we review them we can have

          6  confidence that the money is going out properly, and

          7  we've had that confidence enough to give it out, you

          8  know, $41 million to 200 candidates.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         10  much. Just so you will appreciate, we do believe

         11  that democracy was well served through the efforts

         12  of the Campaign Finance Board.  So that there is no

         13  misunderstanding, I will continue to reiterate this,

         14  as we go through this process, that we're trying to

         15  improve it, and it can always be improved, and

         16  sometimes the best way to get improvement is with

         17  criticism --

         18                 MS. GORDON: Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- Constructive

         20  criticism, and the experiences, the value of being

         21  of candidate through this program is that it's a new

         22  program and we get to experience the good and the

         23  bad, and if we win, we get to share it with you from

         24  positions of Council members and, therefore help it

         25  for those who come next.
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          2                 MS. GORDON: And we're delighted to be

          3  a part of this process, and we solicit those

          4  comments.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          6                 I want to acknowledge the presence of

          7  Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr., and I want to now

          8  turn to my colleague Council Member Phil Reed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you very

         10  much, Mr. Chair, and Commissioners.

         11                 I think what all has been said is

         12  true, I think the system ultimately has been well

         13  served, and, so, there are kinks to be worked out.

         14  And I was trying to get the exact number, but I

         15  realized the total payout was under both the

         16  estimate of the Council and the ridiculous estimate

         17  of the previous Administration. I remember those

         18  days of battling to get the money in the budget and

         19  we had to remind them that by Charter they had to

         20  put the money in there. You know, and it's

         21  unfortunate that the media isn't paying attention

         22  now that he's been knighted and off and running, but

         23  I think you did a good job and I think you spent the

         24  City's money well in that context, and it is

         25  interesting that it was only $40 million, which
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          2  sounds like a lot of money, but democracy doesn't

          3  come cheap, and it certainly was a lot less than

          4  people anticipated it to be.

          5                 I'm curious as to in your testimony,

          6  and perhaps you told us this in other hearings, what

          7  was the administrative cost, your agency's cost

          8  overhead to put this $41 million out in the street

          9  essentially?

         10                 MS. CAMPOLO: I know we've given that

         11  in a percentage to past Councils, it is well, well

         12  under 20 percent of the total budget obviously, but

         13  in that mix, in what you call administrative costs,

         14  we have Voter Guide mixed into that, in debates, and

         15  whatever. So, it is well under 20 percent of the

         16  overall budget.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The Agency's

         18  cost was under 20 percent?

         19                 MS. CAMPOLO: Oh, yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And in terms of,

         21  there was always an issue, and I say that in the

         22  context of my initial remarks, because I felt that

         23  your agency, as well as many of us, were working

         24  under siege, and so there was always a question of

         25  whether or not you had adequate staffing, and I'm
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          2  curious as to if that perhaps was a concern in terms

          3  of addressing some of these concerns or issues and

          4  in fact complaints that people had, was there enough

          5  staff to do this in your estimation?

          6                 MS. GORDON: To do the work of the

          7  Board in this past election? I think largely yes. I

          8  think one thing that I would qualify that with is

          9  that, we knew, of course, that there would be a huge

         10  increase in workload, in terms not just of the

         11  number of candidates, but the number of

         12  transactions, and we worked very hard to prepare for

         13  that. But you can prepare and prepare and prepare

         14  and then when the reality of the bodies come in and

         15  the filings and so on, you can never know exactly

         16  what it's going to be.

         17                 I think obviously now having had the

         18  experience we can work smarter and quicker in

         19  everything else because we now know where some of

         20  the weak points were, but I think that had to do --

         21  I think the kinks that we have experienced

         22  administratively have more to do with the unknown

         23  and not having faced certain things before than it

         24  did with a lack of personnel.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, in the
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          2  overall that's not the --

          3                 MS. GORDON: I don't want to complain

          4  or say we didn't have sufficient staff. I think we

          5  had them, I think we may not have been able to

          6  anticipate a lot of things, but not because of lack

          7  of personnel.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Just in trying

          9  to follow-up on something that Council Member

         10  Moskowitz mentioned, and I think some of these ideas

         11  that she's put out and obviously you have talked

         12  about makes sense, and you know, we're always

         13  refining the process. But in this dialogue that you

         14  were having about the technical problem that she had

         15  with the patch, in that sort of, in that last few

         16  days of the campaign, I guess I'm curious, why was

         17  the patch -- why did we put it out then? Was it so

         18  critical to have the patch, to have everybody have

         19  to use this? And I'm so technically incompetent with

         20  a computer, I'm just curious, couldn't we have just

         21  waited? Was it that big a deal?

         22                 MS. GORDON: Yes. I mean, if we were

         23  putting out a patch in the middle of a campaign --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, what?

         25                 MS. CAMPOLO: Yes, we thought it was a
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          2  big enough deal to do it. Because it's certainly not

          3  easy for us, and certainly, we do not want to create

          4  more hassles for the candidate. I mean, I know that

          5  may sound strange to you but we don't. And if we

          6  decided that it was that critical, we put it out

          7  because we did think it was that critical and there

          8  were issues that needed to be addressed immediately.

          9  So, that's the short answer.

         10                 I mean, if it wasn't, you know, we

         11  would have held off. It's a lot easier for us not to

         12  do it.

         13                 MS. GORDON: For you, obviously.

         14                 MS. CAMPOLO: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I mean

         16  that was a judgment call, okay. But in that

         17  dialogue, I was just trying to understand did it

         18  prove to be that critical.

         19                 You know, without -- we're all trying

         20  not to talk about our own personal experiences, but

         21  you talk about these written questions that we have,

         22  and I took the liberty of calling, advisory

         23  opinions, I took the liberty of calling the person

         24  that handled my relationship with the CFB on the

         25  phone while you were saying that, and I don't mean
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          2  to embarrass anybody, but we still have not gotten a

          3  response to the written opinion that we put in --

          4                 MS. GORDON: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And I remember

          6  there was a deadline on that.

          7                 MS. GORDON: I'm well aware of that.

          8  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And I asked you

         10  almost every other day when we were going to hear,

         11  and we kept being told, well, we have to think about

         12  it, we have to do, and it was postponed, it was

         13  postponed.

         14                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And I had

         16  forgotten about now until you raised it.

         17                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And as of this

         19  day we do not have a response to that written

         20  request.

         21                 MS. GORDON: I know that very well. It

         22  was a very difficult subject for the Board. I think

         23  in the end their conclusion was that they needed to

         24  do it through a different kind of process, a

         25  rule-making, and I think that that's how they're
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          2  going to treat that subject. And it was just beyond

          3  what they felt they could deal with. They thought it

          4  had a lot of competing values and issues and

          5  concerns and they thought that the best way to

          6  proceed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You haven't told

          8  me or my campaign that yet.

          9                 MS. GORDON: I think that during the

         10  campaign I will say we were in touch with the

         11  various campaigns. I don't want to get too riveted

         12  on any one in particular, but all I can say is that

         13  there is a lot of difficulty with the issue that was

         14  raised, and they couldn't resolve it in that

         15  context.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Would you agree,

         17  without getting into the details, it was a fairly

         18  substantive question, wasn't it? It wasn't a

         19  frivolous question.

         20                 MS. GORDON: Yes, it was not a

         21  frivolous question. But I would also say that

         22  campaigns --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And it spoke to

         24  a lot of other campaigns, not just my campaign.

         25                 MS. GORDON: Yes, but the campaigns
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          2  were given guidance how to proceed.

          3                 In other words, the question raised a

          4  new thing that could be done differently, and the

          5  campaigns were told to continue to do things the way

          6  they had been doing them. All the campaigns were

          7  told the same thing. So, it wasn't that the

          8  campaigns didn't have guidance how to proceed, they

          9  had guidance how to proceed. It's true that the

         10  question was never answered, and I believe that

         11  what's going to happen is that the Board is going to

         12  deal with that in a big way, not in a way that in

         13  the middle of the campaign might possibly have

         14  changed things for a lot of campaigns. And that,

         15  because there were expectations and so on that might

         16  have been disturbed, and I'm sorry to be so vague

         17  and all that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That's exactly

         19  what the frustration of many campaigns is. Your

         20  vagueness is not vague to many of us when there are

         21  substantive issues about whether we can spend money,

         22  and we're working on a deadline, and, you know,

         23  there are many deadlines in this campaign. So, you

         24  know, I'm a big supporter overall of both you and

         25  the agency and what we're trying to do here, but you
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          2  said in your testimony that you only had 20, only

          3  20, and that's a pretty small number. One of them,

          4  you have not written to us, you have not said, you

          5  know, it's a big question. You know, you all are so

          6  brilliant --

          7                 MS. GORDON: We were in touch

          8  informally.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: -- That would

         10  have been nice.

         11                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, it's still

         13  left out there hanging, Ms. Gordon, and it makes it

         14  difficult to absorb the rest of this in good faith.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: May I interject,

         16  Council member?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There are at

         19  least two of those 20 at the table, I just want to

         20  make an observation in that regard, and ask, is

         21  there a reason why that one in particular was not

         22  responded to?

         23                 MS. GORDON: It was a very

         24  extraordinary -- it had to do with the subject of

         25  segregated funds to be used for political
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          2  contributions to other campaigns. That was the

          3  subject.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Segregated

          5  funds?

          6                 MS. GORDON: In other words, funds --

          7  the question was, can you have a separate bank

          8  account that you put money into that is not going to

          9  be matched with public funds, and use that money to

         10  make campaign contributions to other candidates,

         11  okay? And not have that affect the matching amount

         12  that you get.  Because the way the program has

         13  always worked in the past is that if you make a

         14  campaign contribution out of your campaign, your

         15  public funds get reduced.

         16                 Now, that was the way it was from one

         17  to one, and then the law got changed to four to one,

         18  and I don't know that anybody focused on this

         19  provision in that time.

         20                 All the campaigns from early on had

         21  been advised to proceed a certain way, which was you

         22  can't do this, all money is fungible, the amount

         23  will be reduced, and if you get the maximum public

         24  funds it doesn't affect you, because once you've

         25  gotten the max there's no -- once you've had enough
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          2  matchable contributions to get the max, it doesn't

          3  affect your campaign. That was the status quo.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I guess I just

          5  really wanted to know why it took so long.

          6                 MS. GORDON: What I'm saying is, this

          7  was such --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just say

          9  this. I'm trying to understand I guess

         10  administratively your problem in responding in a

         11  timely way so that you don't have to go through the

         12  frustration -- this is obviously long after the

         13  campaign and there is still no response.

         14                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, what is

         16  going on administratively? You seem to have a pretty

         17  clear understanding of the issue and the history of

         18  the issue, but there seems to be something

         19  preventing a response.

         20                 MS. GORDON: Yes. And I'll tell you

         21  what it was, okay?

         22                 This is a situation of hard cases

         23  make bad law. Sometimes if you push an issue to its

         24  limit, you can create a confusion and uncertainty

         25  and unfairness. And the Board, rather than issue a
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          2  response, decided that the best way to proceed was

          3  since all the campaigns had operated on a certain

          4  basis for several years, understanding the law to be

          5  a certain way for several years, that to disturb

          6  that would be a mistake and that this was a subject

          7  that required a broader, bigger discussion than was

          8  available through that process. And people

          9  disagreed, and I understand that that's not a very

         10  satisfactory answer, I'm just saying that in the

         11  midst of the campaign, the Board felt that to

         12  address that would be a worse problem than leaving

         13  the status quo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That may or may

         15  not be acceptable. Excuse me, Mr. Chair, with all

         16  due respect. But you never expressed that to the

         17  campaign. If you had said that and reminded us of

         18  what the previous law had been, because I don't want

         19  to get into it, because I don't remember that being

         20  that clear, it's a mancestry (phonetic) that we

         21  could have reviewed, but you never said that. That's

         22  a pretty clear statement. We could work with that.

         23                 MS. GORDON: We always -- that may

         24  have been a mistake, and I apologize. But let me

         25  just say one thing: We always did communicate with
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          2  the campaigns. I'm not saying you personally,

          3  because I assume you were not on the phone. We

          4  always told them what the law was and how to

          5  proceed. They always knew that. They always knew

          6  that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I

          8  completely -- I would have to just, I just picked up

          9  the phone to try clarify this and --

         10                 MS. GORDON: And I also want to --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:-- So we got two

         12  out of 20 --

         13                 MS. GORDON: Yes. All right. And I

         14  also just want to --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: -- That are

         16  suggesting to you that we've never gotten --

         17                 MS. GORDON: All right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, let's leave

         19  it alone for the moment.

         20                 MS. GORDON: Okay.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But I do think

         22  that is something -- and when you're talking about

         23  frustration, okay that's what candidates feel. They

         24  are under a pressure that I don't think very many

         25  other people feel, because we're out here trying to
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          2  do the right thing.

          3                 MS. GORDON: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It is so much

          5  simpler to just go out here and say, nah, I don't

          6  want to go through that process, and I'm going to do

          7  all of this, but God forbid the New York Times or

          8  somebody would say these guys just didn't do this.

          9                 Well, nobody understands what doing

         10  this is. So, you ask the questions, you ask and you

         11  can't get an -- it is called frustration, every one

         12  of those letters is capitalized.

         13                 Let's move on, I have another

         14  question.

         15                 I just didn't understand, maybe I'm

         16  wrong, in the Voter Guide that was put out for the

         17  general election, if I recollect, in the Voter Guide

         18  for the General Election, in my particular district

         19  and campaign and other people's that I was familiar

         20  with, there was a whole list of candidates in the

         21  book who weren't on the ballot. And my opponents who

         22  had lost in the primary, and people who actually

         23  hadn't even participated in the system, if you

         24  opened up and looked at the general election in

         25  District 8, to my knowledge there was three people,
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          2  there was five of them in the book. And people kept

          3  asking me, "didn't you beat this guy in the

          4  primary?" You know, what's up?

          5                 MS. GORDON: Well, the Voter Guy did

          6  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It was like

          8  Ground Hog Day. I didn't know what I was supposed to

          9  do with it.

         10                 MS. GORDON: The Voter Guide did

         11  explain the reason for that. The reason for that was

         12  that on September 11th, when the primary got

         13  delayed, the following, that week the Board had an

         14  emergency meeting, our offices were shut down, and

         15  we presented to the Board the alternatives for the

         16  General Election Guide. One was not to publish one

         17  at all; and the other, since we could not wait to

         18  learn the primary election results, because

         19  otherwise the printing schedule would not get the

         20  guides to the public in time, the other was the

         21  alternative to place a disclaimer in the Guide that

         22  did say that this Guide had to go to press before we

         23  could learn the primary results because of the

         24  September 11th attack, and that therefore we had to

         25  include all the primary candidates in it, and we
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          2  explained that in the Guide, that they would not,

          3  you know, most of these people, or many of them,

          4  would not be on the ballot.

          5                 That was the only physical way it

          6  could be done, and I do want to take this moment to

          7  say that the staff who put that thing together, 17

          8  editions, three languages, without access to our

          9  offices, worked night and day to get it out, and we

         10  did it in the best way we could under the

         11  circumstances, nobody wanted to put out a guide that

         12  had candidates who wouldn't be on the ballot, but

         13  the printing and mailing of that guide goes to 3

         14  million people, it's a project that's very difficult

         15  for people to understand the magnitude of it, but

         16  there was no physical way it could be printed and

         17  delivered in time, unless we went forward without

         18  knowing who had won the primary.

         19                 It's unfortunate, I hope it never

         20  happens again, that's the way it was.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I appreciate

         22  that. And I would conclude my remarks, Mr. Chair, by

         23  saying, I certainly understand, this to me is a

         24  perfectly rational explanation for it. I think we

         25  were all working under circumstances that not only
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          2  never happened but we don't ever want to see happen

          3  again. But I think even in your testimony, and,

          4  again, I just can't say it enough, I think you all

          5  in the overall do very credible work in trying to

          6  make this thing be successful, but all of what

          7  you've said, what I'm left with today is that we all

          8  make mistakes, and they weren't necessarily that

          9  somebody wanted to be deliberate in these errors, in

         10  these mistakes, in these transmissions. So, I think

         11  some of us feel that the Board is sometimes rather

         12  punitive around things that people error on, and

         13  there is not always the same kind of recognition.

         14                 Now, I grant you, and I hope the

         15  Chair, and I know he has many questions, I'm curious

         16  to find out how many cases of fraud in this whole

         17  thing, because none of us want to see that happen.

         18  But I'm just left, and I'm going to leave it with

         19  you, that what you have said and what we're saying

         20  is we're all human beings, there are mistakes that

         21  are made here, so let's remember that on both sides

         22  of this when we're trying to create a better system

         23  here.

         24                 MS. GORDON: Right. I appreciate what

         25  you're saying. I do want to say that on the mistake
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          2  side, I don't want you to think that the Board

          3  thinks it made a mistake about publishing that

          4  Guide. That was a deliberate decision to publish

          5  that Guide the way it was, there was no other

          6  choice.

          7                 On the issue of the advisory opinion

          8  to which you did not get a response, your campaign

          9  should have been informed and there was an outset of

         10  public meeting during the campaign that there would

         11  not be a response issued, and that it was going to

         12  be left until after the election.

         13                 And I have to look at our records,

         14  find out what was communicated to your treasurer or

         15  whatever. It's not as though there was no

         16  announcement at all about what was happening. Just

         17  so I can clarify that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         20  Councilman.

         21                 Let me just quickly -- you answered

         22  all 20 inquiries, advisory opinions, one way or

         23  another?

         24                 MS. GORDON: Some of that -- yes. You

         25  know, I said in the written version of my testimony,
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          2  which I didn't read, you know, not all advisory

          3  opinion requests that come in are really advisory

          4  opinion requests. Some of them are requests just to

          5  confirm something that's in the law, or some of them

          6  are disguised complaints about other candidates.

          7                 In one form or another everybody got

          8  an answer. They may not have gotten the answer they

          9  wanted in this particular case, they got an answer

         10  that the answer was not coming. But as far as I

         11  know, everybody got an answer. The answer was the

         12  status quo. The answer was no, you're going to go

         13  forward with this campaign.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: There was no

         15  written response to my question.

         16                 MS. GORDON: You're correct that there

         17  was no written response, but the answer was to do it

         18  the way we've always done it, which is segregated

         19  account doesn't count, and that the Board is going

         20  to deal with this issue at a future time in the

         21  aggregate. That's the answer.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm going to

         23  move forward, but I want to move forward with this

         24  for a moment because I don't want to know what the

         25  answers are, because that's not the purpose of my
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          2  question; I just want to know how many were written,

          3  how many were announced, and how many were discarded

          4  because they were not quite --

          5                 MS. GORDON: The real thing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- In the

          7  category of requiring a response --

          8                 MS. GORDON: About --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Of the 20.

         10                 MS. GORDON: Okay, of the 20, about

         11  half were what we would not call an advisory

         12  opinion, but they were responded to either by letter

         13  or orally on the phone, and of the rest a written

         14  response was made, but an announcement in the one

         15  case was made on that one, in the public session of

         16  the Board, and not a written response.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Maybe a better

         18  way to do this, so we can move on, if you don't mind

         19  giving us a report on the 20?

         20                 MS. GORDON: Okay. All right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The response

         22  time, whether it was written or wasn't written, and

         23  any other way in which you "responded" to those

         24  inquiries.

         25                 MS. GORDON: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now the

          3  inquiries that we're speaking of were written

          4  inquiries, right? I assume?

          5                 MS. GORDON: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, if you're

          7  saying there were only 20 written inquiries over the

          8  last campaign season --

          9                 MS. GORDON: In that form, right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- In which you

         11  responded one way or another.

         12                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And you will

         14  share that with the Committee.

         15                 MS. GORDON: We'll get that to you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So we can get a

         17  sense of --

         18                 MS. GORDON: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And if you can

         20  share that in terms of time frame as well.

         21                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Because I think

         23  the essence of this concern is the timing of the

         24  response.

         25                 MS. GORDON: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: A written

          3  response.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If possible.

          5                 MS. GORDON: In writing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Like a written

          7  response.

          8                 MS. GORDON: For sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         10  much, Councilman Reed.

         11                 And now we'll go to Councilwoman

         12  Madeline Provenzano.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman.

         15                 One of the things I didn't intend to

         16  comment on, because I had forgotten about it, but

         17  will now, is the Voter Guide.

         18                 I think you made a wrong decision in

         19  my case. You know, we all say, well, we don't want

         20  to personalize this but we almost have to because

         21  that's our area of reference.

         22                 My opponent that lost the primary was

         23  the only candidate listed in the general election. I

         24  wasn't even in the Voter Guide. Of course, I also

         25  have the distinction of probably being the only
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          2  candidate that ran for City Council that did not opt

          3  into campaign finance. So, there may or may not be a

          4  connection there.

          5                 But I think if you were not able to

          6  give the correct information, you should not have

          7  given any information. I mean, 3 million people got

          8  the wrong information, and I don't see how that did

          9  any of them any good.

         10                 MS. GORDON: Well, they got -- you

         11  know, the response we get from the public on the

         12  Voter Guide is very positive. What they got was

         13  correct information, because what they were told was

         14  we have had to include more candidates than will be

         15  on the ballot because the primary results were not

         16  known at the time we had to go to press.

         17                 Now, people, we hope, will look at

         18  the Guide. There is a list in the front, candidates

         19  at a glance, it tells you who is on the list, and

         20  you can compare that with a ballot, and look at the

         21  people who you want to look at.

         22                 As I say, the response --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: My

         24  experience is that people turn to the district

         25  they're concerned about, look at who's running, and
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          2  they don't read little explanations or -- they just

          3  turn to their area of interest.

          4                 MS. GORDON: Well, I will take back to

          5  the Board your comment that you disagree with their

          6  judgment to do it, but they did do it and that was

          7  their decision.

          8                 And I also want to say there is

          9  absolutely no connection between who was in the

         10  program and who was in the Guide. Everybody gets in

         11  the Guide, and if they file a statement, everybody

         12  gets in the Guide.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Talking

         14  about, and I think reference has been made in your

         15  comments and reference has been made to certain

         16  Council members about there seems to be a smaller

         17  number of candidates that have complaints about the

         18  system, and you know, we don't really hear from that

         19  many candidates, and I think part of the problem

         20  probably is getting a letter from CFB is like

         21  getting a letter from the IRS. You know, people look

         22  at it and start to tremble. And many candidates have

         23  to run again next year, so they're probably

         24  thinking, oh my God, why should I open my mouth and

         25  create more problems for myself than I need.
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          2                 So, that's kind of my explanation as

          3  to why I think you don't hear from as many

          4  candidates as you probably could hear from. I think

          5  there is this kind of aura.

          6                 MS. GORDON: I don't think I said, and

          7  it would be wrong for me to say that we haven't

          8  heard complaints from candidates. We do hear

          9  complaints from candidates. They are offered up

         10  spontaneously by candidates, they appear at hearings

         11  of the Board frequently, whether it's on their own

         12  matter or in a general way, and we solicit comments.

         13  So, I don't think I did say it, I did not say --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Well, I've

         15  gotten that feedback from candidates, that there

         16  were not enough candidates that expressed concerns

         17  --

         18                 MS. GORDON: Oh, I can't judge that

         19  from the point of view of whether the candidates

         20  feel enough has been expressed, but I can tell you

         21  that we do get a lot of communications.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: My

         23  colleague asked you a question, and I didn't

         24  understand the answer, about operating budget.

         25                 It seems to me that, and this was
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          2  mentioned several times by you, that success seems

          3  to be rated by the amount of money spent, which was

          4  $41 million for 200 candidates. You said your

          5  operating budget was 20 percent of something. If you

          6  put it in dollar amounts, your operating budget was

          7  what?

          8                 MS. CAMPOLO: Our operating budget

          9  for, just, for instance, for the upcoming year is

         10  about $3 million for OTPS and approximately another

         11  3 million or so, 3.5 million for staff, so about $8

         12  million.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Now, was

         14  that over the course of the campaign?

         15                 MS. CAMPOLO: Over the course of the

         16  campaign it was higher than that. Over the course of

         17  the campaign it was because we had more OTPS costs,

         18  it was probably closer to nine or $10 million.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So, we're

         20  looking actually at about then $51 million that you

         21  want to add to what was put out for the actual cost

         22  between your cost and what was given to candidates

         23  was over $50 million.

         24                 MS. CAMPOLO: The entire budget for

         25  last year was $77 million, that included the fund,
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          2  it included what we call operational cost, and it

          3  included Voter Guide.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay, 77.

          5                 MS. CAMPOLO: That was last year, $77

          6  million.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I guess it

          8  also surprises me that success, and maybe that's the

          9  way to go, I don't know, success is measured by how

         10  much money is spent, and I always thought Campaign

         11  Finance had the opposite approach by trying not to

         12  encourage so much money to be spent.

         13                 But I certainly agree with my

         14  colleague, Eva Moskowitz, on some of the -- you

         15  know, on I guess basically on your bill, but I think

         16  what we really have to do is simplify campaign

         17  finance. You know, I think the more we complicate

         18  it, and the more convoluted it becomes, the more we

         19  invite fraud into the system. And I think fraud is

         20  something that we're all tiptoeing around and making

         21  believe that it's not there.

         22                 I had suggested, and I would love to

         23  at some time sit down with Campaign Finance and

         24  discuss that issue, because I think it's a very

         25  serious issue, I think it's something that people
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          2  are not really looking at.

          3                 I mean, I know perfectly wonderful

          4  people, legitimate people who are sitting around

          5  trying to just imagine ways that the whole Campaign

          6  Finance system can be played, and it's totally

          7  amazing.

          8                 And I think that maybe it's not truly

          9  being realized by a lot of people, and I don't know

         10  if at some point this Committee will address those

         11  issues but I think it really is a very serious

         12  component of Campaign Finance.

         13                 I mean, I believe in Campaign Finance

         14  but I'm not sure we're going in the right direction,

         15  which is one of the reasons I have not opt into

         16  Campaign Finance.

         17                 MS. GORDON: Well, I want to thank you

         18  for raising the fraud issue. It is something that is

         19  very much in the minds of the people of the Board.

         20  And that's one of the reasons we're so concerned

         21  about changes that might in any way either encourage

         22  it or permit it to happen without very strict

         23  oversight.

         24                 And I do want you to know, we do, as

         25  I mentioned, we do see evidence of it. We work with
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          2  the various prosecuting offices on that and it's a

          3  very, very serious problem. And for better or for

          4  worse, unfortunately, with the generous matching

          5  formula that's in place the incentive is obviously

          6  high.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Didn't you

          8  ask a question regarding that? Didn't you ask what

          9  the percentage was and it was not answered?

         10                 MS. GORDON: I'm sorry, what was the

         11  question?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I think my

         13  colleague asked, regarding fraud, can you give us

         14  some percentage or some idea of how much fraud

         15  played a factor?

         16                 I would think, particularly as it

         17  relates to expenditures, it's my opinion, again my

         18  opinion, that Campaign Finance seems to be very,

         19  very concerned with where the money is coming from.

         20                 They are not as concerned where is

         21  the money going, and I have that on, you know, it's

         22  not just a personal opinion, I know it for a fact.

         23                 So, I would like to have you answer

         24  that question, if you have any idea.

         25                 MS. GORDON: I'm not in the position
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          2  sitting here to say what percentage or amount, and

          3  also to characterize something as fraud, as opposed

          4  to mistake, I mean those are very, very different

          5  animals and I don't want to confuse them.

          6                 I will say that the audit process,

          7  the election period audit process prevented

          8  literally millions of dollars going out on the basis

          9  either of fraud or mistake, and the post process

         10  uncovers things that we turn over to the prosecuting

         11  authorities.

         12                 I mean, I'm not in a position to

         13  quantify the distinction at this point.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Because,

         15  again, I hate to get personal, but I am, I sent the

         16  Board a letter outlining several areas, and I

         17  actually listed the areas in your Campaign Finance

         18  regulations that had been violated, and there were

         19  five or six items. And I basically, the letter I got

         20  back pretty much said we don't really -- I mean, not

         21  in so many words, but we don't really care, it's

         22  none of your business.

         23                 MS. GORDON: Well, probably -- I mean,

         24  since I know what some of the letters are that go

         25  back and forth, and I don't know what happened in
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          2  your particular case.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: When I

          4  spent 40, between 40 and 45,000 on my campaign,

          5  which is a primary and a general election. My

          6  opponent got $137,000 from Campaign Finance, because

          7  he got five to one match.

          8                 MS. GORDON: Well, what happens is,

          9  when we get a complaint from a candidate about what

         10  another campaign is doing, we have two avenues that

         11  we pursue.

         12                 If it's really a criminal allegation,

         13  then it's not within our jurisdiction to deal with,

         14  we turn it over to the appropriate authorities. If

         15  it's something that is pertinent to what we do, we

         16  fold it into our audit process which is probably the

         17  letter that you got that said we will take this

         18  information and we will look at it as part of the

         19  audit process and so on and so forth. And the audit

         20  process does take all of that information into

         21  account.

         22                 I have to be clear, you know,

         23  candidates have the options if they want to, to file

         24  a formal complaint with the Board, and then there's

         25  a whole process with a hearing and all the rest of
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          2  that and, you know, you can be part of that process

          3  of public process.

          4                 If you make an informal complaint,

          5  then the Board takes that information, uses it as a

          6  part of the audit process, and I'm sure you can

          7  appreciate that, because some candidates might

          8  receive complaints about them that are informal,

          9  that are without basis.

         10                 The Board is not going to turn every

         11  -- is not going to respond to the complainant until

         12  the audit process is done, because that would be

         13  unfair to the candidate who is being complained of.

         14                 So, either you do a formal process,

         15  in which case the whole thing is done out in the

         16  open, or else if you make an informal complaint it

         17  gets folded into the audit process --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So, what's

         19  the difference between a formal and an informal?

         20                 MS. GORDON: Well, a formal complaint

         21  entitles the person who is complaining to have a

         22  complaint, get an answer, almost like a mini court

         23  case. There's a hearing in front of the court.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So, if you

         25  write a letter outlining certain things, that's not
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          2  a formal complaint.

          3                 MS. GORDON: It's got to be a proper

          4  complaint, you know, a verified complaint. You know,

          5  the rules set out a process for doing that.

          6                 What I'm making a distinction between

          7  is a complaint that initiates a hearing at all of

          8  the administration stuff that goes with that, you

          9  know, informal information that we receive that we

         10  take into account as we look into the matter and

         11  then the final audit reflects either that there was

         12  something there or not.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: But a

         14  formal complaint only follows your auditing process.

         15                 MS. GORDON: No. A formal complaint

         16  can be initiated by anybody, including a candidate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm going to

         18  have to ask my colleagues to move along. This

         19  witness has been here since 1:00 testifying and

         20  there are several other members that want to raise

         21  some concerns, and there are several other

         22  witnesses, it's 2:30 now. So, I'll come back on a

         23  second round, if you don't mind, but this approach

         24  is taking too long.

         25                 So, if you don't mind, Council Member
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          2  Provenzano, do you want to finish your question?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: No. I

          4  think my question was finished. The answer wasn't,

          5  but the question was.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Let me

          7  just ask the witness then to finish responding to

          8  your questions, and then we'll move on to Council

          9  Member Vallone.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: We can

         11  move on.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         13                 Council Member Vallone. Oh, I'm

         14  sorry, Council Member Quinn. Sorry.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Followed by

         17  Vallone and then Nelson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. On

         19  page three of your testimony, I have a question

         20  which I'm a little confused about, it's regarding

         21  petitioning costs. I mean, first let me just say

         22  that I think the idea for the concept of excluding,

         23  or making petitioning costs exempt is a good one for

         24  a couple of reasons.

         25                 MS. GORDON: They are exempt.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

          3                 MS. GORDON: Now.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I was going to

          5  explain.

          6                 MS. GORDON: Oh, okay. Sorry.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But then what

          8  is your objection then to the provision here if

          9  they're exempt?

         10                 MS. GORDON: The provision, as I

         11  understand it --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I guess you've

         13  got me confused, then I'm even more confused.

         14                 Why then does your testimony say this

         15  would be the first time in the history of the Act

         16  that the Board would be prohibited from examining or

         17  questioning a category of expense. You already have

         18  exempt categories.

         19                 MS. GORDON: They're exempt, but we

         20  look at the documentation to make sure that they

         21  meet with the law's requirements.

         22                 What this, as I understand it says --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But that's not

         24  correct that this --

         25                 MS. GORDON: I haven't even said what
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          2  I think my understanding is.

          3                 What's not correct, what I just said?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, what your

          5  understanding of the bill, that Council Member

          6  Moskowitz is somehow saying you then couldn't look

          7  at a category, that we would be prohibiting you from

          8  examining or questioning the category of expense.

          9                 Because when I read your testimony, I

         10  mean, I honestly say I forgot, I forgot that

         11  petitioning was exempt, but I was thinking this is

         12  such an odd thing she just said because compliance

         13  with campaign finance is exempt, so why is she

         14  saying there's no exempt categories when there are

         15  exempt categories?

         16                 MS. GORDON: I didn't say there

         17  weren't exempt categories.

         18                 Let me explain what I understand the

         19  bill to say.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         21                 MS. GORDON: What I understand the

         22  bill to say is that if you claim up to -- if you're

         23  running for City Council, I think it provides

         24  $10,000 in petition costs that cannot be questioned

         25  by the Board.
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          2                 That's the way I understand this. It

          3  says, you know, the following expenditures will not

          4  be limited, and then it gives the number for each

          5  level of office. And then it says --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Nicole, I guess

          7  I don't --

          8                 MS. GORDON: -- If you have more, then

          9  you are required to document it. And what that means

         10  to me is that you have less, you're not required to

         11  document it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: There's no

         13  documentation here. This, again, is this threshold.

         14  Right now we have a situation where petitioning is

         15  exempt. But what constitutes petitioning is a

         16  guessing game, it is not at all self-evident.

         17                 In the past what has happened is

         18  those people who are really concerned about what

         19  constitutes petitioning go through an extended

         20  methodology, and this goes back to Council Member

         21  Phil Reed's point where, you know, in January before

         22  petitioning I submit my methodology. You don't

         23  answer. I send another letter, you don't answer, et

         24  cetera, et cetera. This would say, look, let's not

         25  go through all that. If you can demonstrate that
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          2  what your expenses are are petitioning, and it's

          3  under a dollar figure, let's not haggle. Let's not

          4  have this back and forth. Let's call it a day, that

          5  petitioning, it costs a certain amount to get on the

          6  ballot, and let's not --

          7                 MS. GORDON: The problem is the

          8  definition. I don't think this provides one.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Well, this

         10  is the problem with this business, is that you don't

         11  solve it with a definition.

         12                 MS. GORDON: Somebody could count

         13  anything as petitioning. That's the way I understand

         14  this. If it's exempt now, and you document it and

         15  that's okay --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: This is what I

         17  want to do, if my members indulge me, clearly we're

         18  in a passionate moment --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, I think

         20  we're in a confused moment. I don't think it's that

         21  passionate.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         23  Quinn, this is what I want to do: If we can get

         24  clear with the concern that you're raising and let

         25  her respond.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I don't think

          3  she understands what my concern is.

          4                 I think that what you're saying the

          5  problem that the bill creates is the problem. I mean

          6  presently -- so petitioning costs are exempt. So,

          7  does that mean that if I buy a clipboard for

          8  petitioning, I think I can never use that clipboard

          9  for anything else. Or do I need to figure out that I

         10  used that clipboard, which cost two bucks, for a

         11  quarter of its campaign life on petitioning, so,

         12  therefore, X cents is exempt, but Y cents isn't?

         13                 I mean, you've provided no

         14  definition. You've provided no clarity I don't

         15  think, and I think actually what this provision of

         16  the bill seeks to do is provide that clarity. And I

         17  guess I don't understand why you think the bill

         18  enables -- I think if you think the bill prohibits

         19  you from looking at what people are reporting, I

         20  think you've misunderstood the author's intent,

         21  which I think she agrees with.

         22                 MS. GORDON: Well, I guess if the

         23  issue is definitions, then either the law or the

         24  rules should provide definitions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.
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          2                 MS. GORDON: I think what this does is

          3  it just makes a certain amount up to which you just

          4  spend it and say that it's for petitioning and we

          5  don't question that. That's the way I understand

          6  this to work.

          7                 And the reason I believe that must be

          8  so, is that if this doesn't define what petitioning

          9  is, and we're allowed to look, then we're still

         10  going to be talking about what's petitioning and

         11  what's not.

         12                 I think what the problem really is

         13  here, and it's not just about petitioning, in my

         14  view, it's about all exempt expenditures where

         15  there's a lot of uncertainty --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That's true.

         17                 MS. GORDON:-- And, you know, how do

         18  you allocate and all the rest of that, I think that

         19  it really has to do with all the exempt expenditures

         20  that in the case petitioning, maybe what we ought to

         21  do is have a laundry list of things and maybe have a

         22  single allocation formula or something like that,

         23  and maybe that's a similar avenue that could be

         24  addressed to exempt expenditures generally. Because

         25  I think this is both a problem of definition for
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          2  petitions, I think it's also a problem that

          3  candidates have in general about allocating for

          4  exempt expenditures of all kinds.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, that I

          6  think would be useful. I think it's something I

          7  would encourage you to sit down with the Committee

          8  and Council Member Moskowitz to look forward to

          9  doing that.

         10                 MS. GORDON: I look forward to doing

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Because

         13  certainly, you know, better than guessing. I just

         14  want to stress, I think what happens is if you're

         15  someone who wants to abide by the law, you can end

         16  up paralyzed, honestly. And you can end up losing,

         17  because you're so afraid to do anything that is

         18  wrong. And that's not what we want to, obviously,

         19  encourage.

         20                 MS. GORDON: Absolutely right. And I

         21  think one of the problems that Council Member

         22  Moskowitz has very eloquently described, and it

         23  clearly is a problem, is that the candidates who

         24  want to file advisory opinion, get guidance and so

         25  on, are trying to comply, then you have other people
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          2  who are not using that avenue and may not be, may

          3  not come to the Board's attention as having done

          4  something that's contrary.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: On the C-SMART

          6  computer issue, this may not be specific to the

          7  bill, but I think that we really do need to sit down

          8  and figure that out, because I know, you know, I've

          9  had an ongoing problem with the Campaign Finance

         10  Board about where to send my mail. You know, they

         11  continue to send my notices for a significant period

         12  of time to my old campaign address where I no longer

         13  was. So, the patch was sent there. It then was

         14  forwarded to my PO box, which we don't check on a

         15  super regular basis when I'm not running. So, then

         16  we didn't have the patch, and yadda yadda, da-da-da.

         17  Then the mailing no longer goes to that address, it

         18  continues to not go to the address that I want, but

         19  we've learned to live with that. So, on that patch

         20  thing, I got the patch, but then there was a new

         21  patch, and still what I do every time is one of my

         22  volunteers brings my laptop to the CFB, because the

         23  patch that we got renders it unable and willing to

         24  print. So, actually there's a lovely person there

         25  who helps us, we bring the computer there and we
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          2  print it out.

          3                 But I say all of that to say I think

          4  there is perhaps even more significant C-SMART

          5  problems than this bill addresses that we need to

          6  look at (a); (b) I think there needs to be a way --

          7  things like address changes, which happen frequently

          8  when, you know, you're running, you're not running,

          9  da-da-da -- well, go ahead, because you've decided

         10  the end of my sentence, so go ahead. Go ahead.

         11                 MS. GORDON: She was giving me some

         12  information. Go ahead, we're listening.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I could have

         14  been fined because of the screw up on the address,

         15  although I made attempts to tell you where to send

         16  it. So, I think we need to figure out a way that

         17  someone in that situation who actually had done the

         18  right thing, but a mistake was made on the CFB's

         19  end, and a common human error, you know, if that

         20  happens, that that not be held against a candidate.

         21  So, some way of, I don't know exactly what it is,

         22  documenting that type of communication so then if a

         23  candidate doesn't get the right information, they're

         24  not penalized because there is a problem with their

         25  filing.
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          2                 MS. GORDON: Do you feel your campaign

          3  was penalized for that?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I think it's

          5  irrelevant whether my campaign was or wasn't, but I

          6  can only imagine if I had so much -- if I had so

          7  many problems getting things sent to the right

          8  address, and we tried vigorously to get it sent to

          9  the correct address.

         10                 MS. GORDON: I will look into it. I

         11  don't understand why that would be a problem,

         12  because people do change their addresses, and they

         13  give it to us in writing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But my point

         15  exactly. I'm assuming that I am not the only person

         16  who had this address change problem. Now, whether or

         17  not I was penalized I don't think is the point. I

         18  think the point, what I'm saying is I had a problem.

         19  I am assuming that that is a problem, and I see a

         20  lot of nodding heads, that other people have that

         21  problem. And they may have been penalized. But even

         22  if they weren't penalized, like you are the IRS, it

         23  sends you into a frenzy of hysteria. I can't even

         24  tell you, when I stop by 14th Street to go to the

         25  bathroom and I see anything from the Campaign
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          2  Finance Board there, I'm hysterical, I think I'm

          3  going to jail. You have no idea. I would like a law

          4  that makes it so I don't have to get hysterical and

          5  think I'm going to jail because somehow my phone

          6  message didn't get forwarded. You have no idea.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You're looking

          8  for a different patch, Council member?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes, exactly.

         10  Do you know what I mean?

         11                 So, I think there needs to be some

         12  type of transitional issues from when someone goes

         13  from being a candidate to no longer being a

         14  candidate, that need to be addressed. Because I see

         15  so many heads nodding, I think this address problem

         16  has happened with other people.

         17                 MS. GORDON: Well, I appreciate your

         18  bringing it up. I'm going to look into it and find

         19  out what I can about it.

         20                 I want to add, when I said penalties

         21  and audits, I want to add another thing that is said

         22  a lot, and I don't want people to think it isn't

         23  heard, and that is what you just said, people get an

         24  envelope from us and the reaction is of great

         25  concern.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes.

          3                 MS. GORDON: And this is something

          4  that I don't know whether it's the way the letters

          5  are written or what the various possible reasons for

          6  that are, but about the letters themselves, I'm

          7  personally going to look at every single one of the

          8  things we send out and try to read them through

          9  different eyes and see whether we can improve.

         10                 But I think another thing that would

         11  be very helpful is the kind of informal meeting

         12  we've been able to have with some Council members

         13  where I think some of these things can be brought up

         14  where we can hear them, not, you know, in the spirit

         15  that we're all trying to improve the program and the

         16  relationships, and then we can work on responding.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just say

         18  that the terror that folks go through with regard to

         19  receiving something in the mail from you has nothing

         20  to do with the envelope. It has to do with the

         21  anticipation of bad news. I'm not saying it because

         22  folks feel like they did something wrong, it's as if

         23   -- there are probably in my life two pieces of mail

         24  that I dread, my American Express bill and an

         25  envelope from the Campaign Finance Board. And I can
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          2  understand why my American Express bill bothers me,

          3  but I never really feel I've done anything wrong,

          4  but I always feel as if something in that envelope

          5  is going to alert me to a problem that I don't know

          6  anything about. Do you understand, there is I think

          7  a broad concern amongst candidates. How many

          8  candidates did you have this year?

          9                 MS. GORDON: Well, 350 some odd who

         10  opted in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Three-hundred

         12  and fifty. At least 350 folks who got something from

         13  you in the mail, if they got something more than

         14  once, we'll probably share with you the same kind of

         15  concern about receiving mail from the Campaign

         16  Finance Board, but something about it's not like a

         17  welcoming letter. So, I'm not saying that to be

         18  critical per se, I'm just saying as a perception

         19  that what you get from the Campaign Finance Board is

         20  a headache when you get it in the mail.

         21                 And it relates to some of the issues

         22  that I believe this legislation is trying to

         23  address, so that's what I want you to understand

         24  about that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can I just
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          2  raise one last thing, and I'll be quick. It's more

          3  kind of on the future thing. Although this

          4  legislation deals with the winding down issue, I'm

          5  not sure that it does with this part of it. I never

          6  understood -- I mean, I understand the issue on some

          7  level, I totally understand the issue of returning

          8  money back to the taxpayers. I think, though, like

          9  Council Member Provenzano said, we want people to be

         10  cautious in spending not, you know, frivolous. So,

         11  it seems a little bit like you get penalized if

         12  you're cautious, as opposed to if you're frivolous.

         13  But what I really don't understand is, you know, you

         14  get bills after the campaign, and you can't

         15  necessarily control how quickly, you know, a printer

         16  or whomever sends you a bill, but if you say -- the

         17  way the rules are presently written, I've

         18  experienced that it's very difficult to save money

         19  to pay bills that you anticipate that you will

         20  receive after the primary or the election is over.

         21  And I really would like you to look at that and look

         22  at how we can address that, because, you know,

         23  there's almost this like compulsion to end with a

         24  zero balance, so you don't, like, get your money

         25  taken away, but then you can actually make a
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          2  situation where you ended up in debt when you did

          3  not need to end up in debt.

          4                 MS. GORDON: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

          6  Council Member Quinn.

          7                 Council Member Nelson, and then

          8  Council Member Vallone.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         10                 Yes, the letter is sort of like a

         11  letter from Uncle Sam we used to dread in the

         12  sixties, it's like being drafted.

         13                 MS. GORDON: I hope at least the

         14  checks brought some joy to people. I hope there's

         15  the other side there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Some sort of a

         17  balance.

         18                 MS. GORDON: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes, it is.

         20  It's the work involved, and it's become a cottage

         21  industry.

         22                 I fired one treasurer, because for

         23  one month he charged me $1,500, and he said because

         24  you don't know what they put you through. I found

         25  somebody who does it for a lot less money, but it's
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          2  still very expensive. It costs about probably

          3  $15,000 for the year. I don't know if that was part

          4  of what it was supposed to be about, but it's

          5  tremendously expensive. But, yet, you do a lot of

          6  work, it's tremendous amounts of work that your

          7  agency does, and that's understandable. And we're

          8  asking for codification, but, yet, not for it to be

          9  too cumbersome. It's sort of contradictory in a way,

         10  but we're all striving to make it easier, and,

         11  obviously, less expensive, if possible. And I found,

         12  you are, to your credit, equal opportunity

         13  confounder, you know, you don't target black,

         14  Jewish, transgender, it doesn't matter, I'll give

         15  you credit. You are not out to get anybody I've ever

         16  seen or heard of, because we're all complaining

         17  about what's going on here. And scrutinizing is 100

         18  percent necessary because you're talking four to one

         19  match. I've heard it to become like a summer jobs

         20  program for some candidates, for their family and

         21  friends. Or if they have a store, their cousin has a

         22  store on some avenue, all of a sudden that becomes

         23  the headquarters, although nobody ever sees anybody

         24  doing any work there. And, of course, sending out

         25  so-called newsletters. So, you need to really look
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          2  into this, so I think nobody is complaining about

          3  that part of it. It can be fraught with fraud, if

          4  you weren't on top of this and working with the DA's

          5  office, I would imagine. The fact that you were

          6  meeting once a month in some cases was extremely

          7  frustration, that word came up, boy was that

          8  frustrating. We'd try to get something going for us,

          9  and then, oh, well, you didn't get to that in the

         10  docket because there were so many things in the

         11  docket, but next month there will be another

         12  meeting. That should be really looked into in some

         13  cases. This is a particular situation, and to be

         14  provincial, I had that myself. But that was a long

         15  time ago, that was straightened out, but it took so

         16  long.

         17                 I think you probably worked out that

         18  bug by now overall, but it went on month after

         19  month.

         20                 Then there was a case where it was

         21  like a cycle 2 category 6, and whatever it was, file

         22  them, family species, whatever it was filling out

         23  those forms, there was something that we didn't do

         24  correctly. When I first started off my wife had to

         25  do it because I couldn't afford to have a treasurer
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          2  and, boy, did she get sick from this, emotionally

          3  and psychologically and physically. But she would

          4  say, I did do this, look, see cycle 6, see this, and

          5  we sent it back. Then we were told that, okay, but

          6  you didn't do, you know, bla-bla-bla-bla. So, we

          7  said, why didn't you tell us about bla-bla-bla when

          8  you told us about cycle 6, 7 and 8? So, I think

          9  hopefully since, that was about, in all fairness,

         10  about three years ago, so I imagine you worked it

         11  out. And that was only three or four candidates. It

         12  was me, Chris and a few others. So, if you handled

         13  three, I hope that part of it has gone smoothly.

         14                 I know, again, my last campaign,

         15  thank God it worked out very well. I'm just giving

         16  the balance I think of what the frustrations are all

         17  about.

         18                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I haven't

         20  asked you a question yet actually, but one thing,

         21  too, as far as, I don't know if there should be

         22  zippo in the pejorative or in the booklet, you can

         23  say my opponent exposed themself in a school yard,

         24  or has been accused of bank robbing, and then you

         25  get a lot of liquid gold, if you will, out of this,
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          2  people writing this, oh, look at this, it's been

          3  said that this guy, whatever, and there's no

          4  credence to it whatsoever. So, I don't know if it

          5  could be used only in the positive, because somebody

          6  could say whatever they want, it's not your job to

          7  go into, oh, is this true, does this guy have a

          8  record, you know, who lived in Texas?

          9                 So, I don't know if that would be one

         10  of the things, because you could say anything about

         11  anybody, and once it's written, and about 25,000

         12  leaflets are done, I know one of my opponents used

         13  this against me, because I did not repay my own debt

         14  in time, which I should have but I couldn't because

         15  it was hard to raise that much money. There is a

         16  picture of me with my wife getting an award at some

         17  ceremony, and the local newspaper put it "Nelson in

         18  happier times. Under investigation." That was, I

         19  mean to my wife that just got her sicker, you know,

         20  it almost took me out of this line of work actually.

         21  But because somebody from the Campaign Finance Board

         22  says, yes, we're investigating because he didn't pay

         23  back his loan on time -- which is a perfectly

         24  legitimate thing, it certainly was nothing illegal,

         25  something to be penalized for absolutely, although
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          2  it's hard to pay 50 grand back in a certain amount

          3  of time, the donators are not out there if you do

          4  this line of work the right way.

          5                 So, anyway, these are just some of

          6  the complaints. There's been a stream of

          7  consciousness almost, I realize, and I apologize for

          8  that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilman --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If anyone

         11  plans to run, Jean or anybody else, think about

         12  this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilman

         14  Nelson, is there something you want the Executive

         15  Director --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes.

         17  Everything I said overall, but anyway, the

         18  importance of codifying some of this stuff, and

         19  really getting it together, and the frustrations

         20  that we feel, they're true, they're significant. But

         21  last election your Board did a great job, okay? And

         22  in all fairness, thank you.

         23                 MS. GORDON: Thank you for that

         24  comment. And I do want to say that while I certainly

         25  do understand, the program is very complex, and we
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          2  are carrying a lot of baggage from many, many years

          3  ago. The program I think with each election gets a

          4  little bit simpler, a little bit easier to deal

          5  with, and it is with the comments that we get from

          6  people that it enables us to study again how we

          7  operate and to work together with the candidates and

          8  try to improve it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         10  Vallone.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair, and it's the last time I be a nice guy

         13  and like Mike go in front of me.

         14                 Let me commend you, first, for this

         15  hearing, and Council Member Moskowitz, for the work

         16  you've done under the bill, which I support. And

         17  also commend you, Miss Gordon, because for the most

         18  part I think we all agree you've done a fine job and

         19  we're all here just working together to make sure

         20  this works better in the future.

         21                 That being said, there's a couple

         22  additions that I might put on here. As you know, we

         23  can accept pack money, if they're registered with

         24  CFB, to prevent corporate money from getting

         25  funneled to us, which is a good idea. Unfortunately,
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          2  we're allowed to accept it, and then they have 15,

          3  ten days to register, and this happened to me, they

          4  didn't register, I returned the money, I got fined.

          5                 So, that would be something that

          6  needs to be addressed. The time for them to register

          7  needs to be extended to some 30, maybe 60 days,

          8  because otherwise they have to register the second

          9  they hang up the phone. And then our time to return

         10  the money should run from the time, their time to

         11  register has expired, I think that might be

         12  something we should put in there. And again, the

         13  fact if we got fined for this, I think we're trying

         14  to legislate, unfortunately common sense, which

         15  might not be possible, none of us think these minor

         16  technical violations should be wasting your time

         17  when there's huge fraud to go after, like campaign

         18  managers that are attempting to give huge in-kind

         19  contributions, which you rightfully stopped.

         20                 But there is fraud out there, and

         21  this isn't it. The things we've done without any mal

         22  intent and which could be fixed with a phone call,

         23  and we'd like more of that to happen.

         24                 So that was one minor change.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Can we get a
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          2  response from her on those first two suggestions you

          3  made?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Sure.

          5  Regarding the pack, do you have an opinion on that?

          6                 MS. GORDON: Yes. I know this will

          7  sound amazing, we actually hate some of these

          8  provisions almost as much as you do.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: When you finish

         10  with him I'm going to ask you exactly which ones

         11  you're having some difficulty with.

         12                 MS. GORDON: Okay.

         13                 You know, when the corporate ban was

         14  enacted, the Board had recommended a complete ban on

         15  all organizational giving, and neither the City

         16  Council at that time, nor the Charter Revision,

         17  which also dealt with the similar issue, chose to go

         18  that way.

         19                 And a lot of anomalies came out of

         20  that. One of the things that's very frustrating to

         21  the candidates and to us are things like, you know,

         22  a limited partnership is treated differently from a

         23  corporation, and, you know, it's a nightmare. And I

         24  don't know whether people just weren't focused on

         25  that at the time and the way the law is written it
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          2  just says corporation, why should that be treated

          3  differently for a partnership nobody knows, but it

          4  is, and, you know, there's not much you could do

          5  about that.

          6                 On the pack front, what happened was

          7  there was a concern that corporate money could be

          8  funneled through packs, and so when packs gave

          9  contributions to candidates, they might be receiving

         10  what was in effect corporate money, and that would

         11  mean that there was an indirect way in which this

         12  corporate ban was not being respected.

         13                 I don't know whether the Council

         14  would be receptive at this time to expanding the

         15  organizations that are prohibited. I think that the

         16  filing requirement really serves no purpose at all

         17  except that very narrow purpose which is to try to

         18  monitor whether corporate money is coming into a

         19  campaign, and I'm not sure how much that's worth

         20  anybody's time and effort. Maybe it would be better

         21  to address the whole thing some other way.

         22                 You know, when we do our report

         23  that's due in September, you know, we're reviewing

         24  every aspect of the program, and this is one of the

         25  one's that we identified as a really difficult thing
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          2  for the candidates, that, you know, was a question

          3  whether it furthered any public purpose to have this

          4  registration regime. And on the other hand, the law

          5  does say there's a ban on corporate contributions

          6  and I don't know what the solution is to put those

          7  things together.

          8                 So, I haven't answered your question,

          9  I don't think, in terms of a solution, but I think

         10  we feel there's a bad problem there, and we'd like

         11  to find some bullet that gets --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you think

         13  suggestions he made is sort of in the right

         14  direction?

         15                 MS. GORDON: Well, I'm not sure. The

         16  suggestion that he made was?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Time frame, when

         18  you have to report your pack, when you have to

         19  register your pack, when you have to register your

         20  pack, and the time frame --

         21                 MS. GORDON: Change it from 30 days to

         22  ten days or --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: At least 30

         24  days because even if they try, it's very hard for

         25  them to register within ten days and then we're in
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          2  technical violation.

          3                 MS. GORDON: Yes. I mean, I guess

          4  that's one way to try to look at it. I have to tell

          5  you, as the timetable gets broader, you're talking

          6  about people who, I mean, would you be allowed to

          7  take public funds in the meantime or not. I mean,

          8  when it gets to the crush of the election, then you

          9  have to make those big decisions about whether these

         10  are things that are going to come into play or not,

         11  and then a 30-day time doesn't serve, maybe doesn't

         12  serve the candidate's purpose, maybe doesn't serve

         13  the public's purpose. I don't know the answer to

         14  that immediately, but --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Without being

         16  specific about the time frame, just for the sake of,

         17  you know, I don't want to get caught up in the 30

         18  days or ten days --

         19                 MS. GORDON: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Moving in terms

         21  of more time to register, is that a make sense kind

         22  of idea for you?

         23                 MS. GORDON: The only reason I don't

         24  want to say yes off the top is, I haven't had a

         25  chance to think about what the implications might
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          2  be.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, at least

          4  you didn't say no off the top. So, that's a step in

          5  the right direction.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: But it takes

          7  long when they don't say no off the top. We've

          8  learned that.

          9                 Very quickly, you know I have a pet

         10  peeve about public money being used to disseminate

         11  false information, and unfortunately it's legal

         12  right now, and I know you don't have any part in

         13  that, but while we have you here as an expert, do

         14  you have an opinion on how we can possibly tweak

         15  this Campaign Finance Law to prevent things like

         16  false endorsements and false newspaper quotes from

         17  being put in literature that's being paid for by the

         18  public?

         19                 And I know this is a very slippery

         20  slope because of the First Amendment problem and you

         21  don't want someone saying I cut taxes and his

         22  opponent saying no he didn't and you being caught up

         23  in that. I'm trying to make it as specific as

         24  possible, possibly with the proof of a quote before

         25  it's disseminated to the public. But while we're

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  working on it, do you have any thoughts on that?

          3                 MS. GORDON: I think you,

          4  unfortunately, for everybody stated exactly the

          5  problem. I mean, once you start going that First

          6  Amendment direction, it's a real, it's a very, very

          7  thorny area, and I don't have any quick answers to

          8  it.

          9                 But I think the day is going to come,

         10  especially with the four to one, that public funds,

         11  you know, the amount of money that's spent now on

         12  these campaigns is starting to be largely public

         13  funds. It used to be largely private ones with the

         14  one-to-one, now it's moved the other direction.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: If I may jump

         16  in. I think you're right, but the constitutional

         17  issue is whether they have a right to say it, as

         18  opposed to whether they have a right to get the

         19  public funds. I think that's why we can keep an eye

         20  on this whole --

         21                 MS. GORDON: If you got public funds

         22  with which you are -- that you're using, in order to

         23  disseminate the information, that's where I don't

         24  know exactly how much one can regulate it and how

         25  practical it is, what body it would be that would be
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          2  the judge of this stuff. You know, we've had this

          3  issue come up in terms of the Voter Guide, when

          4  people put in stuff that an opponent said was either

          5  not true or what have you. I have to say luckily for

          6  all of us people have almost never used the Voter

          7  Guide in that way, and informally sometimes we've

          8  been able to deal with it.

          9                 But I would be -- I think you'd have

         10  to get some heavy hitters in here who really know

         11  First Amendment law and so on to tell you what the

         12  proper limits are for what kind of oversight could

         13  be done on that and what would be the appropriate

         14  body to do that kind of oversight.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.

         16  Chairman, heavy hitters, please, at the next

         17  hearing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm not sure if

         22  I heard you correctly, but I know that the Campaign

         23  Finance brochure, the Campaign brochure is full of

         24  lies.

         25                 MS. GORDON: Wait. Who's? Are you
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          2  talking about the Voter Guide?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The Voter Guide,

          4  yes. It's full of lies. I know my candidates that

          5  run against me --

          6                 MS. GORDON: About themselves?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: About

          8  themselves.

          9                 MS. GORDON: Yes. I mean, what I was

         10  referring to I thought was the concern about saying

         11  false things about other people.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Slandering.

         13                 MS. GORDON: And the protections such

         14  as we have for that is that people do sign a

         15  document, you know, verified, et cetera. Now, the

         16  DA's office, I have to tell you, is not terribly

         17  interested in prosecuting perjury cases on this kind

         18  of subject, but we do refer those cases to them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You had alluded

         20  earlier to some difficulty with regard to

         21  administering the provisions, as he was speaking,

         22  and I was wondering, you know, are there any rules

         23  or regulations that you have had trouble

         24  understanding or implementing, that the Campaign

         25  Finance Program now is?
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          2                 MS. GORDON: Had trouble, you mean in

          3  the current law?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes. You

          5  suggested some provisions, where you have had some

          6  problems with, and I'm just wondering, could you --

          7                 MS. GORDON: Problems administering?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Administering,

          9  right.

         10                 MS. GORDON: Yes. I think the

         11  corporate --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Or understanding

         13  for that matter.

         14                 MS. GORDON: Well, understanding, I --

         15  you know, Board is in a way the agency charged with

         16  understanding it, and I think we've been over most

         17  of the provisions pretty thoroughly and the board

         18  has done the best it can to interpret them.

         19                 I think that, you know, the Board is

         20  currently looking at a lot of areas, I mentioned

         21  exempt expenditures is one, the

         22  organizational/corporate ban is another. I mean, the

         23  Board is looking at the whole law, of course, I'm

         24  just trying to isolate a couple of things that are

         25  clearly, you know, going to get some kind of study.
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          2                 There is always the match, and how it

          3  has affected the campaigns. That's a policy kind of

          4  question out there.

          5                 I think those are probably the top

          6  areas that I could mention now.

          7                 I don't want to speak for the Board

          8  yet. I mean, they're still looking at a lot of data

          9  and stuff and trying to see what areas they think

         10  ought to be covered in the report.

         11                 But, you know, I think those are some

         12  of the areas, and some of the old ones, too, that I

         13  don't want to forget, you know, about the debate

         14  provisions, that the Board was very disappointed

         15  that in past years some recommendations were not

         16  passed and that the debates as a result suffered.

         17  And then also on the small campaign front, for the

         18  first time we had a green party primary and a lot of

         19  public funds went out even to service just a really

         20  tiny population, I think it was like 50 people or

         21  something, and thousands and thousands of dollars

         22  going into that campaign.

         23                 So, you know, there are some old

         24  recommendations that I think the Board will want to

         25  bring back to your attention for possible action.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We look forward

          3  to them, and we look forward to the report coming up

          4  in September. There may be some additional areas of

          5  interest that we would like to have for your to

          6  consider in making that report.

          7                 For instance, when you're talking

          8  about compliance. You know, what are some of the

          9  frequent problems you're finding. You don't

         10  necessarily have to answer these now, but these are

         11  some of the areas of concern that come to us.

         12                 Again, with regard to the auditing

         13  and the timing issue, there's a timing issue here,

         14  and perhaps you can in your report in September give

         15  us some guidance with regard to how this could be

         16  done in a more timely way so that the frustrations

         17  that you're hearing here, which are multiplied out

         18  there with the candidates, you know, can maybe be

         19  better addressed and that we could take some

         20  initiative with.

         21                 And, again, with regard to penalties,

         22  another area where you're finding a lot of concern,

         23  it seems as if -- how do you determine a penalty,

         24  and how much is a penalty, an infraction worth? If

         25  you can address some of that in your report, that
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          2  would be very helpful, as well, and of course the

          3  whole question of the mail, how can you make the

          4  mail more friendly, as far as happy faces on it or

          5  something like that.

          6                 And the whole area of fraud, the

          7  whole area of fraud with the types of fraud that

          8  you're seeing, the amount of fraud that you're

          9  seeing, and the timeliness, how do you catch the

         10  fraud, how do you investigate this fraud that you're

         11  catching. How do you determine what to investigate

         12  and what not to investigate? That would be helpful

         13  for us as well.

         14                 I want to thank you on behalf of the

         15  Committee. You've been very generous with your time,

         16  and we've had a lot of opportunity to share with you

         17  some of the difficulties of the Campaign Finance

         18  program in the areas of interest where we think

         19  there's a good potential for improvement as embodied

         20  in the legislation that was the subject of this

         21  hearing. So, thank you very much.

         22                 MS. GORDON: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: This next panel

         24  will include election attorneys. I want to ask Larry

         25  Laufer to please come forward.
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          2                 Are there any other election

          3  attorneys that are here that we do not have a slip

          4  on?

          5                 And following this election attorney,

          6  we're going to hear from our good government groups,

          7  Gene Russianoff, Linda Davidoff, Glenn Pasanen. And

          8  if there are any other groups that I haven't

          9  mentioned, please let us know that you're here.

         10                 MS. FORD: Larry, could you raise your

         11  right hand to be sworn in.

         12                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         13  testimony you're about to give is the whole truth

         14  and nothing but the truth?

         15                 MR. LAUFER: I do.

         16                 MS. FORD: Please state your name for

         17  the record and your affiliation.

         18                 MR. LAUFER: My name is Laurence

         19  Laufer. I'm a campaign consultant specializing in

         20  helping candidates comply with the City Campaign

         21  Finance Law. Although I am an attorney, I'm not

         22  currently practicing election law, although have

         23  some background in the area.

         24                 I think you've just received my

         25  written remarks and I'm going to abbreviate and I
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          2  think I'll just go about halfway through.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much. That will give us more time to engage you in

          5  some questions and whatnot.

          6                 MR. LAUFER: I would appreciate the

          7  opportunity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Right.

          9                 MR. LAUFER: Thank you, Chairman

         10  Perkins for the invitation to testify on the bill

         11  introduced by Council Members Moskowitz and Baez, to

         12  strengthen and clarify the Campaign Finance Act.

         13                 Fifteen years ago, as an Assistant

         14  Corporation Counsel, I worked on evaluating the

         15  City's authority to adopt Campaign Finance Reform

         16  and on drafting the original Campaign Finance Act.

         17                 I then spent nearly 12 years at the

         18  Campaign Finance Board as Counsel to the Executive

         19  Director and General Counsel, where I drafted

         20  advisory opinions, rules and many of the legislative

         21  amendments adopted to the Act by the Council.

         22                 Since leaving the CFB, I have

         23  assisted dozens of campaigns at every level, from

         24  Council to Mayor, in meeting the Campaign Finance

         25  Program's requirements and helping them qualify for
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          2  public matching funds.

          3                 For the last decade I have served on

          4  the Special Committee on Election Law of the City

          5  Bar Association.

          6                 My comments today are my own views.

          7  I'm not here to speak for any candidate or any other

          8  party, and I would be delighted to assist the

          9  Committee in any way you think appropriate.

         10                 The bill before the Committee shines

         11  attention on what I think is the next critical issue

         12  for the City's Campaign Finance Reform: ensuring

         13  fair procedures and due process for participating

         14  candidates. In short, a bill of rights for

         15  participating campaigns.

         16                 Last year's elections demonstrated

         17  that the Campaign Finance Program is succeeding in

         18  its broad mission of enabling serious candidates to

         19  mount effective campaigns for city office, in most

         20  cases without the need of large contributions from

         21  special interests or great personal wealth.

         22                 The program has enhanced competition

         23  for office, vastly improved the information

         24  available to the public about the sources and uses

         25  of campaign funds, and broadened the involvement of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  city residents in election campaigns by encouraging

          3  small contributions.

          4                 I think this last point is perhaps

          5  the most significant. The financing offered by the

          6  Campaign Finance Program is now the main engine for

          7  bringing new people, and I mean both candidates and

          8  campaign workers, into the political process, a job

          9  that was once performed by party political

         10  organizations.

         11                 This government benefits program must

         12  be administered in a way that invigorates the

         13  political process, without exhausting and

         14  exasperating the best efforts of the many dedicated

         15  individuals who volunteer their time and energy to

         16  help candidates succeed.

         17                 In city elections today by far the

         18  largest source of campaign funding, with one notable

         19  exception, is the City itself - the public matching

         20  funds distributed through the Campaign Finance

         21  Board.

         22                 The potential threat that public

         23  funds will be withheld at the peak of campaign

         24  season gives the CFB enormous leverage in its

         25  dealings with campaigns.
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          2                 This leverage is used to secure a

          3  campaign's compliance not only with the requirements

          4  of the Act, but also with the Board's rules,

          5  advisory opinions, administrative procedures, and

          6  staff requests.

          7                 A threatened delay or loss of funding

          8  can be grossly disproportionate to an alleged

          9  infraction. When an allegation is ultimately found

         10  to have been erroneous, it may be too late to undo

         11  the harm done to the campaign in the interim. It is

         12  critical to remember that participating candidates

         13  have rights under the Campaign Finance Act, not just

         14  obligations.

         15                 The last thing the City needs is a

         16  program that encourages litigation as the way for

         17  candidates to vindicate their rights.

         18                 The law can and must assure fair

         19  treatment for participating campaigns and enable the

         20  CFB to efficiently resolve credible allegations of

         21  fraud and other serious abuses. These are not

         22  inconsistent objectives. When enforcement becomes

         23  unduly devoted to penalizing isolated minor

         24  infractions, including those that have been promptly

         25  remedied, it detracts from resources better focused
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          2  on uncovering and punishing serious violations.

          3                 The bill contains a number of

          4  clarifications that together should significantly

          5  reduce the day-to-day frustrations campaigns have

          6  experienced in dealing with the CFB's administrative

          7  process, and help the CFB's procedures become more

          8  open, efficient and accountable. It reflects what I

          9  think are several central points:

         10                 Substantive requirements must be

         11  reasonable in light of the way political campaigns

         12  actually operate.

         13                 The CFB must conduct and complete its

         14  audits in a more timely manner.

         15                 The CFB must give clear written

         16  notice to campaigns of any compliance problems it

         17  detects.

         18                 After notice, the campaign must be

         19  afforded reasonable opportunity to explain and/or

         20  correct the problem.

         21                 Violations that are remedied within a

         22  reasonable time should not result in a penalty or in

         23  a delay or loss of public funds.

         24                 And finally, final CFB determinations

         25  must be in writing and clearly explain the legal and
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          2  factual basis for any adverse findings.

          3                 I have a number of specific questions

          4  and suggestions that are detailed in the written

          5  comments, but in addition, I'd like to urge the

          6  Committee to carefully refine this bill to ensure

          7  that the program is not inadvertently made more

          8  complicated and that a campaign's burden in

          9  demonstrating compliance is not increased.

         10                 For example, and I know this was

         11  touched on in the discussion with Ms. Gordon, the

         12  bill contains amendments to the expenditure limit

         13  exemption for petitioning costs that would require

         14  campaigns to demonstrate compliance with yet another

         15  cap and require the CFB to evaluate certain campaign

         16  expenditures under another set of standards.

         17                 I took a look at the provision again

         18  during the discussion with Ms. Gordon, and I think

         19  some of the drafting issues can be resolved by

         20  simply deleting a comma, but I would also suggest to

         21  the Committee that the objectives of this provision

         22  could also be achieved by a different amendment that

         23  doesn't impose any new compliance obligations, and

         24  I'd be happy to discuss that at length if you'd

         25  like.
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          2                 Just a couple of more points to read.

          3  I would urge that the Council enact amendments to

          4  the Act as early as possible this year, so that the

          5  Campaign Finance Board can adopt regulations well in

          6  advance of next June's deadline for joining the

          7  program for the 2003 elections. And let me just

          8  parenthetically mention, with redistricting coming

          9  up, the Council may also want to consider reviving a

         10  provision that had been in effect in 1991, the last

         11  redistricted elections, that let's contributions

         12  from residents of anywhere in the borough count for

         13  the threshold for the Council candidates residency

         14  requirements. That would be useful, given that lines

         15  are changing and are unknown at this point.

         16                 I want to make comment on one

         17  specific provision, I'd like to read these remarks,

         18  and this concerns the deadline for completing

         19  audits.

         20                 The bill sets a one-year deadline for

         21  the CFB to conclude a preliminary audit after the

         22  candidate files a post-election disclosure

         23  statement.

         24                 I believe the bill should go further

         25  and direct the CFB to issue final audits for all
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          2  participating candidates by the end of the fiscal

          3  year of the election, or within six months of a

          4  special election, with two exceptions: those cases

          5  where there's substantial evidence of fraud, or in

          6  which the campaign has shown intentional or reckless

          7  disregard of the audit process itself.

          8                 I think this will be administratively

          9  feasible if the Board is also directed to conduct

         10  and complete its compliance and matching claims

         11  reviews of the semi-annual disclosure statements

         12  that candidates now file before they join the

         13  program within the six-month period before the next

         14  statement is due.

         15                 That way the CFB would be in a

         16  position to give each candidate a regular

         17  comprehensive report of their threshold status,

         18  eligibility for public funds thus far, and any

         19  potential compliance problems with an opportunity to

         20  correct these even before the candidate has joined

         21  the program, and before penalties could apply.

         22                 Completing and closing the audit of

         23  each disclosure statement early in the election

         24  cycle will give candidates a better sense of whether

         25  they're eligible for public funds, improve
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          2  compliance with less need for penalties, reduce the

          3  possibility the CFB will first raise questions about

          4  particular financial transactions months and even

          5  years after the fact, and greatly expedite the pace

          6  of post-election audits.

          7                 The remainder of my remarks address

          8  other particular aspects of the bill, as well as

          9  some questions that I would suggest the Committee

         10  might consider, but I want to get to answering any

         11  questions the members have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much for your thoughtful testimony, and of your past

         14  public service, particularly with regard to this

         15  Campaign Finance Program, I appreciate the time that

         16  you're giving us.

         17                 I want to turn first to our sponsor,

         18  Councilwoman Moskowitz.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair. And thank you, Mr. Laufer. We have never

         21  met, but I know of your work and it's helpful to

         22  have someone who has actually been on both sides of

         23  this aisle, and your kind of practical experience on

         24  sort of our side of the table, I think is very

         25  helpful, so I want to read your testimony carefully
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          2  and understand the points.

          3                 I had just one question since you're

          4  here, and it's unfortunate that Nicole Gordon had to

          5  leave, but I believe you are here in her stead. One

          6  of the things very confusing about the language, and

          7  this is a small point but it is one that is near and

          8  dear to my heart, is often Ms. Gordon refers to the

          9  Board, and there is a distinction between the staff

         10  and the Board, and, yet, it's not always clear,

         11  she's sometimes speaking for the Board, meaning

         12  Father O'Hare and company, and sometimes she's

         13  speaking. And this actually in correspondence gets

         14  very, very confusing because when you appeal you

         15  appeal to the Board.

         16                 But leaving that issue aside, this is

         17  my question: When I appealed a particular issue, and

         18  I don't want to go into the substance of it, I came

         19  before the Board, I forget how many members, but

         20  Fred Cerullo --

         21                 MR. LAUFER: There were five.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Five

         23  members. I was very, very surprised to see Miss

         24  Gordon sitting with the Board, and I was going to

         25  appeal. In other words, the staff had ruled, and you
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          2  have an opportunity, a right as a candidate to say,

          3  well, I think they got it wrong. So, I went before

          4  the Board, and Ms. Gordon was not only sitting

          5  there, but whispering while I was giving my

          6  testimony, and at one point interrupted and said

          7  that, you know, I had gotten it wrong, and to me,

          8  that sort of gets at the heart of the process. So,

          9  one of the pieces, one of the issues in this

         10  legislation is to say she had her turn and now it's

         11  my turn, and the supposedly independent five-member

         12  board is now supposed to arbitrate, and if I don't

         13  like what they have to say, as I understand, not

         14  being a lawyer, I can then litigate.

         15                 What do you think of that, given your

         16  experience presumably on both sides of the fence?

         17                 MR. LAUFER: Well, I would say that I

         18  have probably attended more campaign finance Board

         19  meetings than any other person, since June of 1988,

         20  believe it or not, both as a staff member of the

         21  Board, and for the last two years as a consultant.

         22                 It has traditionally been the place

         23  where the Executive Director has been cited, and I

         24  think that there are, especially for large meetings

         25  when candidates are going to make an appearance,
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          2  there are name plates that make clear to the public

          3  the fact that Ms. Gordon is the Executive Director,

          4  whereas the other five individuals sitting there are

          5  Board members. I can understand, though, from a

          6  candidate's perspective how that can be

          7  disorienting, given the staff's role in both

          8  presenting the case, and the separate Board role in

          9  judging the case.

         10                 Indeed, one of the points in my

         11  written comments goes to the question of Board

         12  deliberations which now take place in executive

         13  session out of public view. One thing the Committee

         14  might consider is when the Board is deliberating and

         15  acting in a quasi-judicial role, whether it's

         16  appropriate for agency staff members to be in the

         17  room perhaps making suggestions on what the ultimate

         18  resolution is, perhaps in those narrow circumstances

         19  the Board should sit in a capacity without staff

         20  members who had participated in making the case for

         21  a particular adverse result.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: That's an

         23  interesting additional problem. But let me, if I can

         24  just go back to this one very small matter. Is it

         25  not correct to say that the Executive Director of
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          2  the Campaign Finance Board, meaning the agency, has

          3  a fairly close relationship with the Board members?

          4                 MR. LAUFER: Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Because she

          6  or he is in constant conversation about all these

          7  matters.

          8                 MR. LAUFER: That's been my experience

          9  and sense of what's done in that position.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, in my

         11  view, as the person who is being accused of

         12  something, of not doing something right, in this

         13  case Ms. Gordon has a tremendous advantage, because

         14  she knows she has a personal relationship with these

         15  people, and I'm the one who's being judged. Why not

         16  have a situation where Ms. Gordon, on behalf of the

         17  staff, presents the case to the Board, and then I,

         18  sitting at the same level, with a microphone that

         19  has equal volume, presents my case and the Board,

         20  without any whispering, and without interrupting? Is

         21  there anything wrong? Am I missing something about

         22  the needs of the Campaign Finance Board that I'm not

         23  understanding?

         24                 MR. LAUFER: No, I think your point is

         25  very well taken, in terms of a process that will
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          2  convey to people a sense of fairness in how matters

          3  are ultimately decided who are the Board members who

          4  are the only ones who have a vote in determining

          5  whether a candidate's campaign is subject to -- has

          6  committed a violation and is subject to penalty.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Are you familiar

          9  with the Board of Elections? I know you are talking

         10  about the Campaign Finance.

         11                 MR. LAUFER: Yes, I am to some extent.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The reason I'm

         13  asking is because the Board of Elections has its

         14  hearings in a similar way. The Executive Director of

         15  the Board of Elections sits at the hearings with the

         16  commissioners in this case, like the Board of the

         17  Campaign Finance Board, in that they set policy;

         18  right? Would you say it's the same?

         19                 MR. LAUFER: I haven't actually

         20  attended a hearing of the Board of Elections, so

         21  it's hard for me to comment on that, I take it that

         22  that's correct.

         23                 The difference perhaps is that what

         24  you have with the Board of Elections is a process

         25  where this frequently resort to the courts to
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          2  address any decisions that the Board of Elections

          3  has made that the candidates take issue with.

          4                 The Campaign Finance Program has been

          5  -- hasn't generated the same degree of litigation,

          6  and there may be many reasons for that, one of which

          7  I would say, again, is the leverage that the

          8  Campaign Finance Board has in withholding public

          9  funds in the enforcement context. And one of the

         10  things that I think is very important that this bill

         11  begins to take on, is the question of what should be

         12  the relationship between payment and the

         13  relationship that payment will have with the issue

         14  of compliance, especially in the area of technical

         15  violations.

         16                 So, I think the stakes are somewhat

         17  different, and the opportunities for correction

         18  through judicial process are different in terms of

         19  how the Board of Elections operates and how the CFB

         20  does.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, one other

         22  question that has come up in the last session of

         23  this hearing, related to the burgeoning industry, as

         24  a result of the Campaign Finance Program, and you

         25  seem to have been one to have experienced that
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          2  burgeoning.

          3                 So, the members of the Committee are

          4  very concerned about that, and critical of the

          5  program because of that. Do you have any thoughts

          6  about that, and even if you can be open about how

          7  much you are getting paid would be helpful?

          8                 MR. LAUFER: Absolutely. I think one

          9  of the main things that the Council needs to focus

         10  on is how to make the program simpler.

         11                 The way I look at what my role has

         12  been in this process, I sort of see the work that I

         13  do, given the fact that it is part of helping

         14  candidates run for office and participate in the

         15  City's political discourse, I looked upon it

         16  initially as an extension of public service,

         17  frankly. That's not to say that it isn't the

         18  business enterprise for me as well, it certainly is,

         19  but I make less money now as a consultant than I did

         20  as a City attorney, so I sort of feel that I'm at a

         21  little bit of self-sacrifice in terms of trying to

         22  give candidates some help in doing a better job in

         23  dealing with the Campaign Finance Board.

         24                 That being said, I hope one day to do

         25  a little better salary-wise, but that's not the
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          2  case.

          3                 Let me just add this point: When I

          4  mentioned that I had worked with over 30 candidates

          5  in the last election, that isn't all paid clients.

          6  I'm aware of a lot of situations that people have

          7  faced in terms of their compliance with the CFB, who

          8  are people who ultimately didn't become paid

          9  clients, and I'm always happy to sit down with

         10  somebody and give the benefit of my knowledge.

         11  Hopefully it will turn into a consulting

         12  relationship, but I don't begrudge it when it

         13  doesn't happen.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you. I

         15  don't necessarily think it's bad that someone gets

         16  paid for working in the campaign. You get paid

         17  either through the Campaign Finance program that

         18  presently exists, or you get paid the way people

         19  used to get paid, in terms of how you are able to

         20  raise money. So, the technicians, whether they be

         21  lawyers or treasurers, or whatever, have always been

         22  getting paid, it's just how they are getting paid

         23  now and by comparison to when there was no Campaign

         24  Finance program. I don't think we could expect the

         25  Campaign Finance Program to function without -- to
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          2  eliminate the need to have technicians and others to

          3  work in campaigns, so thank you very much.

          4                 I have a question from Council Member

          5  Comrie, Addabbo and Vallone.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Good

          7  afternoon, Mr. Laufer.

          8                 MR. LAUFER: Good afternoon.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just want to

         10  begin by saying thank you for your dedication to

         11  Campaign Finance and everything that you've done

         12  over the years. And I read your weekly newsletters

         13  and you're an important part of this process.

         14                 I would ask you, do you think, number

         15  one, that there would be more staff required for the

         16  CFB to adopt your item number one and deadline for

         17  completing audits?

         18                 MR. LAUFER: My suggestion in this

         19  area is not that the CFB needs more staff, but that

         20  some examination be giving to how internal resources

         21  are allocated. I think there should be more audit

         22  staff, and I think when you have staff who performs

         23  certain functions during the peak of an election

         24  season, the need for which are diminished after the

         25  election, those staff should be made available and
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          2  trained to assist in the audit process.

          3                 I think the Board needs to give

          4  utmost priority to finding the resources within

          5  house to assure that that process can move along as

          6  efficiently as possible.

          7                 You know, I'm no longer there,

          8  obviously, but my recollection is that with some

          9  reallocation of internal resources, perhaps the pace

         10  of audits can be vastly accelerated.

         11                 It's also an issue of priority. I

         12  think if the Board recognized the priority in

         13  completing reviews of disclosure statements early in

         14  the cycle, it will greatly diminish the demands on

         15  campaigns both during the height of the election

         16  season and shorten the time period after the

         17  election where issues remain to be examined and

         18  resolved.

         19                 So, I would not say that the Board

         20  needs additional staff, but I think some

         21  reexamination of internal current resources might be

         22  in order.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I appreciate

         24  that.

         25                 I agree with, and I don't know if you
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          2  heard the earlier statement by Councilwoman

          3  Moskowitz regarding the physical effect on some

          4  campaigns when they're not able to receive their

          5  matching funds.

          6                 As you looked at the entire spectrum

          7  of a lot of campaigns, do you think that some

          8  persons were adversely affected in their ability to

          9  campaign by the lack of receiving funds in a timely

         10  manner?

         11                 MR. LAUFER: Absolutely. I'm aware --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you know

         13  the percentage of that?

         14                 MR. LAUFER: Percentage-wise? Well,

         15  there were delays for similar reasons to what

         16  Councilwoman Moskowitz described with, you know,

         17  what would strike most observers as relatively

         18  trivial issues that could have been resolved rather

         19  quickly, and that automatically led to an initial

         20  ten-day delay in payment because the Board hadn't

         21  provided for a payment between scheduled Board

         22  meetings, at that point the two Board meetings were

         23  scheduled apart.

         24                 I know of another situation where a

         25  candidate just recently received their first public
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          2  funds payment before the election, even though the

          3  Campaign Finance Board ultimately recognized that

          4  that candidate met the threshold prior to the

          5  election.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          7                 MR. LAUFER: But because of their

          8  administrative process and a desire not to be

          9  flexible in terms of the documentation that they

         10  would be reviewing, they chose not to pay, not to

         11  recognize the candidate had met the threshold, and

         12  we were unable to persuade a court that that was

         13  beyond their discretion.

         14                 I will say that I think it was an

         15  unwise decision on the part of the Campaign Finance

         16  Board to hold back money for a candidate who was

         17  able to demonstrate meeting the threshold, and to

         18  refuse to look at documentation that demonstrated

         19  that, and it's hard for me to say whether or not

         20  that had an impact in the election, but it's an

         21  issue I think the Council should take a serious look

         22  at.

         23                 I mean, I can go into other examples

         24  where candidates have to go to court to free up

         25  money that the Board had been threatening to hold,
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          2  and that did occur a couple of times in situations I

          3  was aware of. And let me just comment on an issue, I

          4  know Council Member --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Can you tell us

          6  about the court case?

          7                 MR. LAUFER: Let's put it this way,

          8  there were several court actions, one of which

          9  relates to the issue that Council Member Reed

         10  raised, concerning his advisory opinion request,

         11  which I'm intimately familiar with. Another

         12  candidate went to court over that same provision

         13  where money was being held, and the Campaign Finance

         14  Board settled that case by releasing the money at

         15  issue, which is a different result than the one that

         16  Ms. Gordon described as being maintained for every

         17  other campaign. So, they were able to settle it and

         18  release money in that instance, even though they

         19  withheld it in other campaigns.

         20                 There was another case where fraud

         21  was actually alleged, where the candidate returned

         22  all the contributions at issue, rescinded all the

         23  matching claims, presented evidence of the

         24  circumstances in which the contributions were

         25  raised, and the Campaign Finance Board, nonetheless,
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          2  didn't accept that resolution, the campaign went to

          3  court and, again, the Campaign Finance Board settled

          4  by releasing the public funds at issue.

          5                 There was a third case that deals

          6  with an issue of when candidates filed disclosure

          7  statements in the years before the election, there

          8  was a new requirement that was instituted in 2000

          9  that required what you all know as back-up

         10  documentation to be included with those disclosure

         11  statements.

         12                 There was one candidate who was late

         13  in filing -- that they were on time with their

         14  disclosure statement, but they were late with their

         15  back-up documentation, and the Board was unsatisfied

         16  with the explanation of why the candidate had been

         17  four days late with their back-up documentation, and

         18  invalidated all the claims that were in that

         19  candidate's report, $20,000 in claims, $80,000 in

         20  public funds.

         21                 We took issue with that. I was

         22  ultimately retained and we took issue with that and

         23  we asked the Board for a ruling that would not

         24  appeal the loss of public funds, but would at least

         25  recognize that these contributions were from
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          2  individuals in New York City supporting the

          3  candidate and would justify counting toward the

          4  threshold.

          5                 The Board disagreed with that, taking

          6  what I thought was a justifiable approach under the

          7  law, a flexible approach in terms of the general

          8  principles of this law, and ultimately that

          9  candidate went to court and succeeded, achieved a

         10  court ruling that required the Board to review those

         11  contributions toward the threshold, even though they

         12  would ultimately not be matched, and that candidate,

         13  again, only received public funds in the end because

         14  of that court ruling.

         15                 I think in many ways all of these

         16  situations could have been avoided if the Board had

         17  been a little more flexible in its administrative

         18  process. I think it has the capacity to do so. I

         19  think it would be very helpful for the Council to

         20  give the Board some direction to be flexible in

         21  those kind of situations.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is there

         23  arbitrariness in the process?

         24                 MR. LAUFER: Well, I think that's a

         25  difficult question. I think the Board tries to be
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          2  very even-handed. That being said, I think

          3  candidates also feel the Board can be very harsh in

          4  situations that one may think are relatively minor

          5  in the great scheme of things.

          6                 I wouldn't call that arbitrary

          7  treatment, but I would say that perhaps it reflects

          8  an overly piciune approach to certain regulatory

          9  procedures that, again, I think you can have an

         10  agency take stock of that and perhaps change course.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, is there

         12  uniformity and predictability in terms of this

         13  piciuneness?

         14                 MR. LAUFER: I would say yes and no. I

         15  would say there is a good deal of uniformity.

         16                 I would say the Board is almost --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, they're

         18  uniformly piciune?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, they're

         20  uniformly piciune.

         21                 MR. LAUFER: I'm not going to

         22  characterize it that way exactly, but I will say

         23  that --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: He brought the

         25  word piciune up. I want to know -- I'm concerned
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          2  about predictability, reliability, uniformity. And

          3  if they're piciune, I want to make sure that they're

          4  piciune uniformly, that they're piciune predictably.

          5                 MR. LAUFER: I would say that as far

          6  as uniformity goes, the Board strives, strives very

          7  hard, in my experience, to treat everybody in the

          8  same manner.

          9                 I think that many people find them

         10  piciune. I'm not going to say that's my decision,

         11  but I've certainly heard that from many.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, you would

         13  be an authority, because you have represented

         14  candidates.

         15                 MR. LAUFER: Yes.

         16                 Again, I say that that is many

         17  candidates' experience with the board. I think

         18  uniformity is something they strive for.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you think

         20  they achieve uniformity?

         21                 MR. LAUFER: To a large degree, but I

         22  think there are also some mistakes that get made

         23  every once in awhile that come to play in that.

         24                 I'm sorry, I didn't note the other

         25  word that you were asking for because I thought that
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          2  -- it was uniformity and?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Predictability.

          4                 MR. LAUFER: Predictability I think is

          5  a problem. I think they're predictable to

          6  themselves, because they're very aware of internal

          7  procedures that they try to follow very carefully. I

          8  don't think that is well understood by the universe

          9  of candidates out there and I think some of the

         10  regulations that Ms. Gordon described as being

         11  considered by the Board tomorrow may help shed some

         12  light to make their results more predictable.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: This is a very,

         14  very serious problem, because if it's an internal

         15  understanding, then there is no transparency in the

         16  process. And, so, those of us who were very

         17  concerned about good government, particularly which

         18  is the mission of this here Committee, that's a very

         19  serious shortcoming. And I'm not putting you on the

         20  spot, I'm just expressing my appreciation for your

         21  knowledge and awareness of what's going on, because

         22  that begins to touch fundamentally on what causes

         23  all this frustration.

         24                 You can't predict what's going to

         25  come in the mail.
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          2                 MR. LAUFER: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You can't be

          4  sure of what the process is that's resulting in

          5  fairness, that's resulting uniformity, that's

          6  resulting in predictability.

          7                 Even if its piciune, if you know it's

          8  piciune, you know why it's piciune, you know it's

          9  uniformity piciune and all that, then you can

         10  perhaps live with it better. It's the mystery of

         11  their process, of their decision-making that we're

         12  trying to shed some light on.

         13                 MR. LAUFER: Councilman, I think that

         14  is perhaps the most critical point here, and I'll

         15  say this, that in terms of the value of a

         16  consultant, such as myself, and this is not

         17  something I strive for, but I think some people look

         18  to me to sort of read their tea leaves, and that

         19  shouldn't be a role that anyone plays.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         21                 MR. LAUFER: We should have a process

         22  that is transparent where the Board is accountable

         23  for its decision-making. And I'll mention one other

         24  particular instance: I think it is critical that the

         25  Board put all of its decisions in writing. I think
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          2  they need to give written responses, and it's not

          3  simply advisory opinions. Candidates have filed

          4  appeals from payment denials, they get no written

          5  response. Candidates have filed complaints against

          6  other candidates that are dismissed without

          7  explanation, without the courtesy of even a form

          8  letter.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You don't even

         10  get acknowledged that we received your complaint.

         11                 MR. LAUFER: Well, I have received

         12  acknowledgments for the complaints that I filed, but

         13  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's not

         15  consistent.

         16                 MR. LAUFER: It's certainly

         17  conceivable that that doesn't happen across the

         18  Board.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Just by

         20  comparison, the objective here is not to tear down

         21  the Campaign Finance Program or that operation per

         22  se. So, I just want to always emphasize that. And

         23  quite the opposite, we're trying to acknowledge its

         24  value and ensure that its value continues to benefit

         25  New Yorkers.
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          2                 The Board of Elections, again, by

          3  comparison, is a predictable operation. When you

          4  don't get on the ballot at the Board of Elections

          5  level, they give you a report and tell you exactly

          6  why. You may not agree with the law that says what's

          7  wrong, but they have to tell you, you do not have

          8  enough signatures to comply and they show you

          9  exactly where you fall short. If you want to protest

         10  that, then you can go back before the Board of

         11  Elections, and say this person is actually

         12  registered, and this is the proof. You have that

         13  opportunity to make --

         14                 MR. LAUFER: Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:-- Because you

         16  know exactly where your shortcomings are. So, you

         17  know, the Campaign Finance Program seems to fall

         18  short in that type of detail, that would I think be

         19  helpful for those who are participating in it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Councilman

         21  Perkins got excited and kind of rolled through the

         22  rest of my questions.

         23                 So, you would opt for clarity and opt

         24  for the fact that the deliberation should be held in

         25  public, and that everything should be done in
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          2  writing?

          3                 MR. LAUFER: Yes. I mean, the point I

          4  was making before about deliberations is that when

          5  the Board does act as a judicial panel, which they

          6  must do when they are reviewing allegations of

          7  violation and determining whether there is a

          8  penalty, is that that will take place in executive

          9  session and one of the things the Committee might

         10  want to consider is whether for that portion of the

         11  executive session that should be done outside the

         12  staff who have presented the case for a finding of

         13  violation and recommended penalty.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And have they

         15  listed how many fraud cases, or do they list their

         16  decisions anywhere?

         17                 MR. LAUFER: The Board has published

         18  on its web site findings of violation, at least in

         19  terms of listing the candidate's name and a

         20  short-hand description of the violation and penalty.

         21                 For example, in this past election, I

         22  looked at it before coming over, there have been 129

         23  candidates who have been found to be in violation,

         24  and with various degrees of penalties, I think they

         25  add up to about $85,000 in the last election.
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          2                 So, that is published on their web

          3  site and is updated with press releases where they

          4  announce findings of violation and penalty.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm aware of

          6  that, but I meant to say, do they list their -- they

          7  don't list their opinion on why the person has the

          8  violation?

          9                 MR. LAUFER: Well, let's put it this

         10  way. They issue letters when they have found the

         11  candidate to be in violation that give a description

         12  and identify the transaction at issue. And that

         13  letter goes out to the campaign and it requires

         14  payment.

         15                 The one thing that I haven't seen in

         16  this election cycle, is when the candidate appeals

         17  that and they make a case for not finding the

         18  violation, when the Board does a ruling on the

         19  appeal, it results in the same kind of form letter

         20  without an explanation of why the appeal was

         21  rejected or that sort of detail. That I find

         22  troubling.

         23                 I think the Board could do more in

         24  terms of when a ruling is made on an appeal, they

         25  can explain clearly what the Board considered and
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          2  why it agreed or disagreed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So there can

          4  be across the Board transparency.

          5                 MR. LAUFER: Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Going back to

          7  Council Member Perkins' point.

          8                 MR. LAUFER: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And I agree

         10  with campaign financing. I'm not a big fan of four

         11  to one, but that's my own personal problem. I think

         12  that what happens with four to one is that you lose

         13  the spirit of volunteerism that I first started in

         14  politics with, because once it's published the

         15  candidate has the maximum matching funds in your

         16  local paper, all of your volunteers start to get

         17  other ideas. So, that's just my personal gripe. But,

         18  you know, once the genie is out of the bottle, it's

         19  all the way out, I don't know how we pull that back

         20  in. That's a conversation for another hearing.

         21                 But I want to thank you for your

         22  continuing diligence in being part of this process.

         23                 MR. LAUFER: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         25  much, Councilman Comrie.
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          2                 Councilman Addabbo is not here right

          3  now, and we're not going to hear from Councilman

          4  before we hear from Councilman Vallone.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you. I

          6  will be very quick, and without a stream of

          7  consciousness.

          8                 But thank you for coming down.

          9  Obviously the simpler we make this, the less money

         10  there is for you to make, so this is not in your

         11  best interest.

         12                 Very quickly, I would consider you

         13  one of the heavy hitters that Nicole Gordon talked

         14  about, and I just want your opinion if you have any

         15  advice on how we can prevent taxpayer money from

         16  being used to spread fraudulent material?

         17                 MR. LAUFER: I think that's a very

         18  good issue, and I think it's a close question for

         19  the City Council, because I do believe there would

         20  be authority for the Council to impose additional

         21  conditions on the receipt in use of public funds as

         22  it did back in 1996 when it enacted a debate

         23  requirement.  Under the First Amendment a candidate

         24  can't be compelled to debate, but the City Council

         25  innovatively made that a condition for the receipt
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          2  of public funds at the Citywide level. So, something

          3  similar could, I believe, be crafted to say, and I

          4  would recommend that it be a narrowly drawn

          5  provision that would say that the use of public

          6  funds for communications that contain scurrilous or

          7  clearly false information is something that could be

          8  prohibited.

          9                 The flip side to that is, it doesn't

         10  impose another compliance obligation, it does put

         11  the Campaign Finance Board in the position of

         12  conducting additional compliance procedures that may

         13  be difficult to resolve in an efficient manner in

         14  the heat of the election. So, it's really a

         15  balancing question in my view. I think it's

         16  something that is theoretically doable by the

         17  Council, but it's something that you really need to

         18  consider the policy implications, whether you want

         19  to give the Board that additional responsibility.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, thank

         21  you for that. I know it's getting late, so I'll

         22  defer the rest of my questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Let me just ask a few quick
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          2  questions.

          3                 I understand the Bar Association is

          4  considering how to improve campaign finance with

          5  respect to running against a billionaire. What

          6  suggestions do you have for this situation?

          7                 MR. LAUFER: Well, I'm not here to

          8  speak for the Bar Association, although I am

          9  involved in that Committee working on that report.

         10                 Improvements for running against a

         11  billionaire --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Start early.

         13                 MR. LAUFER: You know, frankly, I

         14  don't know that there's anything reasonable within

         15  public policy that can be done to the City Campaign

         16  Finance Law, with one possible exception, which is

         17  extending the debate requirements.

         18                 Right now the law provides for two

         19  debates in a general election, only one of which a

         20  nonparticipant would be invited to.

         21                 I think the one cost effective

         22  measure, and I would say the one responsible measure

         23  that the Council can provide is, first of all, to

         24  invite the nonparticipating candidate, if they are

         25  considered a leading contender within the meaning of
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          2  the law, to every debate that is scheduled under the

          3  Campaign Finance Law, and to increase the number of

          4  debates.

          5                 So, even if you have a candidate with

          6  a fortune running for Citywide office, the public

          7  can be assured that there will be say four, five,

          8  six opportunities where they will face off against

          9  their opponent, and if they choose not to, because

         10  they don't have to, since they're not taking public

         11  funds, have to face whatever public criticism comes

         12  their way for not showing up at those debates.

         13                 So, I would say that's the one step

         14  that could be taken in a way that is helpful and

         15  doesn't provide further stress on the public fund.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The idea of

         17  running against a billionaire was not meant to be

         18  taken literally per se.

         19                 MR. LAUFER: I'm aware of Tom

         20  Gullisano --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Even in City

         22  Council, it was meant sort of metaphorically in a

         23  sense that you have people running for City Council

         24  or other City officers who are not participating in

         25  the Campaign Finance Program, but who have these
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          2  extraordinary amounts of money, wealth, or somehow

          3  or other getting this money that totally diminishes

          4  the value of being involved in the Campaign Finance

          5  Program as it is presently being run.

          6                 In other words, the idea of the

          7  Campaign Finance Program was to diminish the impact

          8  of money and allow the outcome of the elections to

          9  significantly be determined by the substance of the

         10  campaigns. Money corrupts that, and a lot of money

         11  corrupts it a lot. So, the idea was to see if we

         12  needed to put more money into the campaign finance,

         13  instead of there being five to one, maybe it should

         14  be done six to one or seven to one. I don't know

         15  what the answer is, but the tendency in elections

         16  today is to see more personal wealth being used to

         17  win elections. We see that on the statewide

         18  elections, we see that in the Citywide elections,

         19  and we see that even in some local elections, and I

         20  think we're going to see that, and the concern is

         21  how do we anticipate that and correct that or plan

         22  for that in terms of the campaign finance program.

         23                 MR. LAUFER: I'll just mention one

         24  other issue because it does come up in the recent

         25  federal legislation, the Sheas Meehan Bill
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          2  (phonetic). They don't provide for public financing

          3  under that bill, but there are provisions there that

          4  deal with the scenario where a candidate is spending

          5  a large amount of personal funds in an election, and

          6  I think what they do is provide for limited relief

          7  from the contribution limit.

          8                 I'm not necessarily suggesting that

          9  that's a particularly good idea, but it's something

         10  that you may want to factor in as an option, as

         11  opposed to additional public funding. There are

         12  options out there, and I would say that extending

         13  the debate requirements to the Council level might

         14  to some degree also be helpful on that issue.

         15                 The question is, could you get any TV

         16  stations to cover them, I think that would be a

         17  factor cutting the other way.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         19  much for your time and your testimony.

         20                 Council Member Addabbo is here, do

         21  you want to --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Mr. Chair,

         23  thank you very much. And Mr. Laufer, I do appreciate

         24  your time and testimony.

         25                 Without being repetitive, my line of
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          2  questioning was going to be along the line of

          3  Council Member Moskowitz regarding the appeal

          4  process, which I think there is a serious problem

          5  with, and in the court of law there is an appeal

          6  process practically for every type of litigation; in

          7  here there seems to be an ambiguous type of appeal

          8  process.

          9                 After the Campaign Finance Board

         10  renders a decision, what is the appeal process, just

         11  briefly?

         12                 MR. LAUFER: Well, for example, if the

         13  Campaign Finance Board decides not to pay public

         14  funds, there's a rule that provides a candidate can

         15  file a petition within 30 days to have that

         16  reviewed.

         17                 One of the things I saw in this

         18  election is a candidate who followed up with that

         19  process never received a response for many months. I

         20  think that's a problem because you have a rule that

         21  expects the Board would be acting in a reasonable,

         22  efficient manner and it doesn't happen.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just be

         24  clear. The candidate appealed within the 30-day

         25  period and there was never a response?
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          2                 MR. LAUFER: Correct. I mean, I

          3  eventually found out through phone calls that the

          4  appeal was going to be denied and was in fact

          5  ultimately denied, and because I attend the Board

          6  meetings, I'm able to inform candidates who I

          7  represent of decisions taken at those Board

          8  meetings, but there was never a letter sent or

          9  anything along those lines.

         10                 It's a little better, I would say, in

         11  the enforcement process, because there are form

         12  letters that go out to advise campaigns of a

         13  violation which contain the right of appeal in the

         14  initial letter.

         15                 The problem as I addressed the

         16  Councilman Comrie is that after the appeal is heard,

         17  the decision is made on it, the final letter that

         18  goes out doesn't really shed very much light on why

         19  the appeal was denied or modified, or what have you.

         20                 So, I think that these are problems

         21  that are, frankly, easily remedied if attention is

         22  given to them, and I think it's just critical for

         23  the Board.

         24                 And I want to say one point about the

         25  fear of opening an envelope. I think it's critical
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          2  on the one hand for the Board to make its

          3  determinations in writing, provide those to the

          4  campaign so they understand why they have received

          5  whatever treatment they're receiving, and also give

          6  them something to potentially take to court if that

          7  seems to be advisable.

          8                 In terms of standard communications

          9  that are just informational or give people updates

         10  on what's going on, I don't see any reason why the

         11  Board can't do a regular newsletter that people

         12  would get in the mail, they would see it's the

         13  newsletter that's giving them updated information,

         14  it's not particular to their own campaign's

         15  compliance, and it might limit those situations

         16  where people are trembling in opening the mailbox.

         17  So, that would be my suggestion.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, opening

         19  that envelope was a breath of fresh air.

         20                 Thank you, again --

         21                 MR. LAUFER: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- For your

         23  participation and for your appreciation of the

         24  Campaign Finance Program and public service. And we

         25  look forward to continuing to work with you on this
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          2  bill and on these matters.

          3                 MR. LAUFER: It's a pleasure. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to call

          6  forward the next and last panel.

          7                 As they come forward, I want to

          8  express to them our appreciation for their patience

          9  in waiting three hours to provide testimony.

         10                 This bill, this issue with regard to

         11  the Campaign Finance Program, is one of the most

         12  significant bills that we have before us in this

         13  Committee and in this Council. It speaks to the

         14  heart of the electoral process in this City, and,

         15  so, the fact that you have waited so long to share

         16  with us is greatly appreciated and is a complement

         17  to your commitment to good government and reform,

         18  and that's what makes New York the great City that

         19  it is.

         20                 MS. FORD: Would you each raise your

         21  right hand to be sworn in?

         22                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         23  the testimony you're about to give is the whole

         24  truth and nothing but the truth?

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.
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          2                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: Yes.

          3                 MS. FORD: Could you each, for the

          4  record, state your name and affiliation.

          5                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: Linda Stone

          6  Davidoff. I'm here from Citizens' Union Foundation.

          7                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: And I'm Gene

          8  Russianoff, I'm with the New York Public Interest

          9  Research Group.

         10                 MS. FORD: Please proceed.

         11                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: Chairman Perkins,

         12  and members of the Council, I'm going to be brief,

         13  having submitted written testimony. Really what I

         14  want to do is emphasize what seems to me to be the

         15  historic role of the New York City Council in first

         16  establishing the Campaign Finance Law, as the law of

         17  the City, and then defending it stoutly against very

         18  threatening challenges that occurred last year

         19  before many members of the current Council were in

         20  office. But a fine tradition has been established in

         21  which this Council has the responsibility for

         22  perfecting the law that is a beacon to the nation.

         23                 I'm here to support Council Member

         24  Moskowitz and the other members of the Committee who

         25  have specific and substantive suggestions for the
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          2  improvement of the process. I'm also here to speak

          3  in support of the Campaign Finance Board and Nicole

          4  Gordon, because I think that that institution has

          5  been in many ways, despite the concerns expressed

          6  here today, that's been an institutional safeguard

          7  that's been respected and seen as disinterested and

          8  in support of the common good, and I think their

          9  work has been in many ways exemplary.

         10                 I think, having heard some of the

         11  dialogue here today, that a substantial part of the

         12  concerns expressed have to do with an irony which is

         13  that it's precisely those candidates who are most

         14  committed to Campaign Finance Reform, and who have

         15  established a record on that matter, who are most

         16  concerned when perhaps a minor infraction is noted

         17  by the Board in language that sounds as if, as

         18  Council Member Nelson so dramatically pointed out,

         19  sounds as if they are major law-breakers, and there

         20  are some language issues, there are some regulatory

         21  issues, there are some issues that have to do with

         22  understanding how it looks from the other person's

         23  side that perhaps can be expressed in regularly

         24  change, procedural change or in statutory language

         25  that I think the Council, including under the
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          2  leadership of Council Member Moskowitz and Council

          3  Member Perkins and the Campaign Finance Board can

          4  work out together. And I note, Chairman Perkins,

          5  that your point is we're looking towards September

          6  when that's the season for perhaps substantial

          7  change.

          8                 On the specifics we've discussed, my

          9  colleague Gene Russianoff and I, have discussed, and

         10  discussed with Council Member Moskowitz and her

         11  staff, some of these issues in some detail, and I

         12  defer to my esteemed colleague and lawyer, Gene

         13  Russianoff, on the specifics and support his

         14  testimony and that of the Public Interest Research

         15  Group.

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon, Mr.

         17  Chairman, and members of the Committee and staff. I,

         18  too, will keep with the theme of brevity at the end

         19  of a long hearing.

         20                 NYPIRG has long been involved in

         21  Campaign Finance issues. I personally lobbied on the

         22  law in 1988 and have participated in every single

         23  major amendment of the law over the last 14 years,

         24  and I think this is truly one of the great

         25  achievements of the Council. As the Chairman stated
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          2  at the beginning of the hearing, this is really an

          3  extraordinary program. It's had its challenges over

          4  the years, it's been continually perfected. I would

          5  join in Linda's comments about the Campaign Finance

          6  Board, I think they are in many ways an

          7  extraordinary agency that does incredible work under

          8  very demanding deadlines and I applaud them.

          9                 We had a chance to meet with Council

         10  Member Moskowitz to talk about the bill, and in my

         11  testimony, in somewhat excruciating detail, some of

         12  our comments, I'm just going to try and hit two or

         13  three or four of them pretty quickly, and a number

         14  of them I think require rethinking on my part, based

         15  on the discussion today.

         16                 But anyway, the first point involves

         17  a minor provision but I sort of think it raises

         18  questions about the tone of the legislation, and

         19  degree of micromanaging in it that I think is

         20  troubling to us. So, the bill would amend the law so

         21  that requests of the City Campaign Finance Board are

         22  deemed delivered to the Board by the day their

         23  postmarked, so you as a candidate send an advisory

         24  request or request to the Board and it's deemed

         25  delivered the day it's postmarked. The Board's
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          2  ruling or issuance of determination is deemed made

          3  five days from when it's postmarked.

          4                 So, you can see that this really

          5  shortens the deadlines by which the Board has to

          6  make decisions and later on in the bill it requires

          7  that advisory opinions be delivered within ten days

          8  during the very end of the campaign process, and

          9  given these provisions about post-marking, the

         10  entire ten days could be eaten up in the mailing and

         11  the delivery of the opinion. That's a tough standard

         12  for anyone to meet.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But you do agree

         14  there has to be a standard that maybe a little bit

         15  more flexibility is what you seem to be suggesting?

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, I think it's

         17  fair to ask the Board to deliver a timely advisory

         18  opinion. I think it's tough, the conversation was

         19  it's clearly tough, how you set that in law and how

         20  you make that a real standard that isn't so

         21  inflexible as to hurt both the candidates and the

         22  Board. I mean, you know, requiring a decision on a

         23  certain date inflexibly may get candidates exactly

         24  what they don't want, which is a rush decision.

         25                 Also, if you give ten days for an
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          2  advisory opinion, it's not only the candidate that

          3  asks the question who is concerned with the answer,

          4  it's the other candidate. And I would say in this

          5  regard the Campaign Finance Board can and should do

          6  a better job than it's done in soliciting opinions

          7  from a wide range of candidates when it issues

          8  advisory opinions, because so many people are

          9  affected by them.

         10                 You have a ten-day time frame while

         11  you're running for office, if you as a candidate or

         12  campaign don't even know about or haven't even heard

         13  of the request, it's very hard to comment on it.

         14                 So, I think it's tough. It's a good

         15  goal, I think it's tough to achieve.

         16                 On petitions, I think a lot of the

         17  discussion reflects the fact that, at least on my

         18  part, I need to know more about the intent and

         19  effect of this provision. The way it read to me was

         20  that a candidate would be able to say I spent this

         21  $10,000 on petitioning, you know, that's my

         22  determination and that's it.

         23                 In my testimony I say that we suggest

         24  as an alternative to this provision that the Board

         25  be directed to detail what constitutes petitioning

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            161

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  expenses in greater, you know, much level of clarity

          3  than it's done before and provide additional

          4  guidance to candidates, rather than setting up this

          5  sort of safe harbor in which some candidates might

          6  abuse the privilege and put expenses in there that

          7  are inappropriate.

          8                 And I would just make the same points

          9  about the provision creating a new expenditure

         10  ceiling for winding down expenses.

         11                 And here, I must say I was thoroughly

         12  confused by everyone's testimony about exactly how

         13  winding down expenses are treated now, which is

         14  probably grist for the mill of people who say the

         15  Board, you know, sometimes lacks clarity, and it

         16  seems that some expenses, like thank you cards and

         17  parties are treated in a different way, and, you

         18  know, finishing out the office expenses.

         19                 And, so, I'd want to know more.  Upon

         20  first reading of the bill I was very concerned that

         21  it was creating a new spending ceiling, actually

         22  creating scores of spending ceilings because it

         23  would be 15 percent of what the candidates spent

         24  during the campaign, so instead of one simple fixed

         25  number, it's a different number for every candidate,
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          2  it's very hard to administer, and items like thank

          3  you notes and post election parties, and people

          4  might disagree with me, but to me are about as much

          5  about the next election as they are about the last.

          6  And, so, maybe those kinds of expenses should go in

          7  the spending ceiling for the next go'round in the

          8  election cycle.

          9                 Just one or two more points. On

         10  audits, you know, I'm very sympathetic that people

         11  want resolution and a closure on their campaigns,

         12  but I wonder if it makes sense to put a one-year

         13  fixed standard within the law.

         14                 For example, what should be done in a

         15  case where there is an ongoing criminal

         16  investigation, and the Board wants to hold off on

         17  releasing an audit, what will this do to the ability

         18  of the Board and the candidate to resolve issues

         19  before audits are released, and will some candidates

         20  abuse the deadline by withholding materials and

         21  information so that time runs out and you're at the

         22  end of the year and you got a tough situation?

         23                 And then lastly, it's my seventh

         24  point in my testimony, there's a lot of language in

         25  the bill about penalties for legal contributions.
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          2  And I think it addresses a serious problem, which

          3  was discussed during the testimony. I think the

          4  candidates need more clarity from the Board about

          5  what the schedule of penalties are, and the Board,

          6  my suggestion would be to draft a provision

          7  directing the Board to issue a schedule of fines,

          8  but a schedule that allows flexibility, because what

          9  if there's fraud? There's a violation, if it's just

         10  a violation because of inadvertence or

         11  misinformation, that's one thing, if it's a pattern

         12  of fraud, you really want to give the Board some

         13  flexibility to deal with it.

         14                 As the bill is drafted now, if you

         15  return money within, what is it, 30 days of receipt,

         16  there's no civil penalty. Well, what if there was

         17  fraud, on the part of the campaign? You really want

         18  to give the Board the ability to deal with that,

         19  plus you really want to encourage candidates to

         20  self-police. So, you might really want to look at a

         21  standard that's more about did the campaign, you

         22  know, first discover the problem and report it to

         23  the Board?

         24                 So, I think there are a lot of issues

         25  in the penalty section that really need serious

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            164

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  review.

          3                 And I close by saying that, you know,

          4  we definitely share the view, which I think was the

          5  consensus expressed, that trying to get some more

          6  rule-making and clarity and direction by the Board

          7  is good for both the public and for the campaigns,

          8  and we look forward to participating in its process.

          9  We had a good meeting with Council Member Moskowitz

         10  the other day, and this will be I think my fifth or

         11  sixth go-around in seeing the Campaign Finance Law

         12  revised, and each one of those changes, each one of

         13  those changes was almost overwhelmingly an

         14  improvement, including the four to one match, which

         15  although some Council members have legitimate

         16  concerns about it, I think it's one of the, you

         17  know, truly great improvements in the law over the

         18  last 14 years.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I agree with

         20  you, and I guess it's appropriate at this time to

         21  attribute this great accomplishment of four to one

         22  to the legacy of the former Speaker Peter Vallone,

         23  who fought very hard and provided great leadership

         24  to make that happen.

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And we're all

          3  grateful for him for that.

          4                 You made some rather insightful

          5  observations with regard to the bill and the areas

          6  that the bill was trying to address. Do you have any

          7  observations to make with regard to how the Campaign

          8  Finance Program could be improved, that may not have

          9  been addressed by the bill? Both of you.

         10                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: I will just pick

         11  up a point that was made earlier, actually on both

         12  sides of the table. Council Member Quinn talked

         13  about the need to make sure the addresses are right,

         14  and I believe Larry Laufer just commented that a

         15  newsletter would be helpful.

         16                 It does seem to me that the magic of

         17  e-mail means that the Board can maintain an

         18  information service that's pretty comprehensive,

         19  that issues its rulings frequently and openly, and

         20  that people runny for office will be glad to

         21  receive. And there is a unit within the Campaign

         22  Finance Board that's for dealing with candidates. I

         23  think there are some administrative changes and

         24  nuances that can be made from the point of view of

         25  understanding that the constituency for the Campaign
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          2  Finance Board is the public, yes, but it's also the

          3  candidates, and there are some ways that that could

          4  be expressed in terms of their administrative

          5  structure. More attention to the needs, both

          6  informational, and other, other candidates

          7  themselves.

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I testified before

          9  the Campaign Finance Board in December at its annual

         10  post election hearings, and I would be happy to get

         11  the Committee our testimony. I'm not sure I remember

         12  all of the things that I said in there, but I

         13  definitely agree with Linda that more information to

         14  the candidates is a good idea.

         15                 Larry Laufer's idea of a periodic

         16  newsletter is great. In his testimony he also

         17  suggests having advisory opinion requests posted on

         18  the web, because then candidates could periodically

         19  look at see, well, someone has raised this issue,

         20  and do I want to weigh in on it? Whereas right now

         21  it's tough, the burden is really on a candidate to

         22  find out what's going on and that's hard.

         23                 We did tackle the very tough issue

         24  about what to do about the billionaire

         25  nonparticipating candidate, and there's no easy
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          2  solution, but we would provide greater rewards to a

          3  participating candidate who is running against such

          4  a person. And you could disagree with how to craft

          5  that, but our view would be giving something like a

          6  flat grant to someone facing a very high spending

          7  nonparticipant.

          8                 The problem with increasing the match

          9  even to ten to one or whatever it is, is you have

         10  the billionaire spending all their money and the

         11  candidate spending all their time raising the money

         12  so they get the match. So, we might take a page from

         13  the clean money, clean elections programs that are

         14  elsewhere in the country that just have a big flat

         15  grant, you know, exactly how you do that, like when

         16  do you give it and what triggers it and what the

         17  amount is, is worth discussion. But we would give

         18  greater rewards in that case. And it by no means

         19  solves the problem. I mean, if you were to give

         20  someone $5 million facing a billionaire, would that

         21  really do stuff? Well, I don't know, it might help.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It would help

         23  more than an additional debate.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Correct. I agree.

         25                 And then the last time I checked, all
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          2  candidates for City offices, except Council members,

          3  were required to provide basically contemporaneous

          4  disclosure of their campaign contributions. So, if

          5  you wanted a matching fund, a match of your

          6  contribution, and you raised it a year and a half

          7  before the campaign, you had to report it to the

          8  Campaign Finance Board in that year. And that

          9  provision was done in part to reduce the

         10  administrative burden on the Board and on candidates

         11  because then they could process all that

         12  contributions well in advance of the election. When

         13  that contemporaneous disclosure provision was

         14  debated, for a variety of reasons the Council

         15  decided to exempt itself from that provision, and I

         16  think that was a mistake. I think it was a mistake

         17  for the candidates. I think candidates would

         18  benefit. I mean, candidates can voluntarily do it,

         19  but I think there should be a requirement of

         20  contemporaneous disclosure by Council candidates,

         21  and that might go a long way to reducing some of the

         22  problems and grief that happens when you dump all of

         23  the contributions on the Board, you know, and

         24  whenever it is, you know, April, May or June of the

         25  Election Year, and then expect the Board to file, to
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          2  process them immediately.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's

          4  interesting. Again, I go back to the Board of

          5  Elections, because when there are voter registration

          6  drives, very often the organizations wait til they

          7  get a whole ton of registrations and then they dump

          8  them on the Board and expect the Board to process

          9  them well in time for the election, but it

         10  administratively becomes somewhat of a problem.

         11                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: And we've received,

         12  we've been on the end of those criticisms, and we do

         13  our best to batch them. But, as you know, voter

         14  registration is like everything else in life, you

         15  don't deal with it until you absolutely have a

         16  deadline in your face, and then you get a surge of

         17  registrations at the end, but the point is well

         18  taken.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Unfortunately,

         20  the Board gets penalized and not the voter

         21  registration organization, as is the case with the

         22  candidate that has to deal with that.

         23                 But the last witness made the

         24  observation that internally they seem to know what

         25  they're doing, but no one seems to understand what
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          2  they're doing externally, particularly when it comes

          3  to penalties and audits, and that, you know, raised

          4  the whole question of transparency and whatnot.

          5                 Do you find that observation to be

          6  something that you would share?

          7                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, the honest

          8  answer is that not being a candidate, I don't have

          9  the level of intensity of looking at it that the

         10  campaigns do, but I think, you know, I think the

         11  message today is clear that the Board needs to

         12  figure out ways to communicate better, and that's

         13  been true of almost every reform cycle in this law,

         14  like the creation of the candidate services unit

         15  that came out of a round of Council reform, so, you

         16  know, I think there's truth to it.

         17                 I also think there's truth to the

         18  Board's view that the more you formalize the

         19  process, it's not entirely clear whether that's

         20  really a benefit to candidates. And, so, the

         21  provisions in the bill, Intro. 171, which, you know,

         22  really created a lot, you know, it may be a boon to

         23  those same lawyers and consultants when every matter

         24  before the Board is handled in an adjudicatory

         25  manner, and there's a lawyer present. So, I guess my
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          2  message to the sponsor is be careful of what you

          3  wish, because you may find yourself with more

          4  regulation. As you may from the separate spending

          5  ceilings that her bill creates, because that's just

          6  another category that you're going to have to audit,

          7  another category that you're going to have to

          8  account for, and there may be unintended

          9  consequences of those provisions.

         10                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: I think having

         11  seen the process myself as a campaign manager of a

         12  candidate who because she was so dedicated to the

         13  cause of Campaign Finance reform, really did not

         14  need to get any kind of chiding or negative

         15  notification from the Board, that the key thing is

         16  the technical consultation that's available, again,

         17  through the unit within the Campaign Finance Board,

         18  that requires and educates candidates to understand

         19  how to set up their computers, how to file the

         20  information.

         21                 It helps the candidates, that way

         22  they can control their finances and what they're

         23  doing in terms of expenditures. It helps them

         24  altogether across the board to be adequate

         25  candidates, and also helps them make sure they stay
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          2  clear.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Any other

          4  questions?

          5                 I want to thank you, as always, for

          6  your participation, and your continued service to

          7  the City, as in terms of your respective

          8  organizations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You will be

         10  working with Councilwoman Moskowitz on modifying the

         11  legislation as it is?

         12                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And the

         14  Committee, as well.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And the

         16  Committee as well.

         17                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         20  again.

         21                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: As I said, for

         23  the roles that you play in our City, particularly

         24  your respective organizations, it's very, very

         25  important. Sometimes you don't get to hear that from
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          2  us, but for those of us on this Committee, we know

          3  how well you do for this City, and in the future we

          4  may decide to put you on first instead of last.

          5                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thanks for the

          6  consideration.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me conclude

          8  in summary by expressing our appreciation to all of

          9  those who testified. Today we were looking at the

         10  Campaign Finance Program, particularly in terms of

         11  fairness, uniformity and predictability. There is a

         12  bill that came before us, Intro. No. 171, which is

         13  the Fairness, Uniformity and Predictability Bill,

         14  the FUP Bill, I like to call it. And we've heard

         15  from the -- FUP, F-U-P. And we've heard from the

         16  Campaign Finance Program and several other

         17  witnesses, and identified significant areas of

         18  concern and particularly in terms of the auditing,

         19  penalties, mail, and the openness of the process

         20  that would assure the candidates, as well as the

         21  public, that arbitrariness and fairness were --

         22  arbitrariness was minimized and fairness was

         23  maximized and that timeliness was also maximized.

         24  This is the first of several hearings that we'll be

         25  having to further explore some reforms that will

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  enable this great Campaign Finance Program to be

          3  even greater.

          4                 Thank you very much. This meeting is

          5  adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 2nd day of May 2002.
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         24

                                   ---------------------
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